Request for Proposal: Trustee Services

VERMONT HOUSING FINANCE AGENCY 164 Saint Paul Street Burlington, Vermont 05401

March 14, 2007

Proposals must be submitted no later than 5:00 p.m., Eastern Daylight Time, Wednesday, April 4, 2007

Section 1 — Guidelines for Request for Proposals

1.1 <u>Introduction</u>

Vermont Housing Finance Agency ("VHFA") is seeking proposals from a qualified corporate trustee, which may be a trust company or bank having the power of a trust company within or without the State of Vermont, to provide trustee services for the bond issues of the Agency as specified in this Request for Proposal ("RFP"). The trustee must be qualified and the trust services provided must be performed in accordance with a new trust indenture securing Multiple Purpose Bonds and the related supplemental resolutions "the Indenture". The Agency is not currently seeking a replacement for the trustee of its current bond portfolio.

VHFA intends to select a Trustee who will consult with VHFA staff, bond counsel, VHFA's underwriters and VHFA counsel and any other parties necessary to create, sell and service the Agency's bond issues. The period during which the selected institution will continue as Trustee is indefinite subject to the terms of the Indenture. A draft of the Indenture under which the selected institution will act as Trustee is set forth in Exhibit A. The Agency expects the resolution to be approved by its Board of Commissioners at their meeting on April 2, 2007 with minimal changes. Once the resolution is approved, the final document will be distributed to all bidders and also posted on the VHFA Web site.

1.2 <u>Schedule of Events</u>

VHFA has established the following schedule for selection of the Trustee:

<u>Event</u> <u>Date</u>

RFP issuance date March 14, 2007

Proposals due April 4, 2007, 5:00 pm (EDT)

Completion of evaluations

Confirmed selection by VHFA Board

Agreement for Services executed

Start date of Services

April 27, 2007

By May 7, 2007

May 11, 2007

To be determined

The above schedule is subject to change upon written notice from VHFA to all firms to which VHFA has provided these materials.

1.3 Questions or Requests for Additional Information

VHFA will accept questions and inquiries from all potential applicants. Potential applicants may submit questions or inquiries via telephone, mail, fax, or email to:

Tom Connors

Chief Financial Officer

 Vermont Housing Finance Agency
 Telephone: (802) 652-3436

 P.O. Box 408
 Fax: (802) 864-5746

Burlington, Vermont 05402-0408 Email: FinRFP@VHFA.org

VHFA reserves the right to decline to respond to any question or inquiry that will cause an undue burden or expense for VHFA. VHFA will post all questions or inquiries with answers on its Web site at www.VHFA.org/RFP. Any applicant that wishes to receive the questions and answers in any other manner must notify VHFA by email (FinRFP@vhfa.org) of its preferred method of delivery (email, fax or mail).

1.4 <u>Submission of Proposals</u>

Three original unbound written proposals in a sealed envelope or package must be received by 5:00 pm (EDT), Wednesday, April 4, 2007. Proposals will not be accepted by fax. Applicants may mail or hand-deliver proposals to Tom Connors, Chief Financial Officer of the Agency at the address set forth above.

Proposals received after the specified date and time will not be eligible for consideration. Any applicant wishing to confirm receipt of its proposal may contact Mr. Connors.

1.5 Right to Request Additional Information

VHFA reserves the right to request any additional information to assist in the review process, including requiring oral presentations of proposals to VHFA staff members, VHFA's selection committee and/or the VHFA Board of Commissioners.

1.6 Right to Reject Proposals and Cancel RFP

VHFA reserves the right to reject any and all proposals at any time. VHFA reserves the right to cancel, withdraw, modify or reissue this RFP at any time for any reason.

1.7 <u>Award of RFP</u>

The RFP will be awarded to the firm that gives VHFA the most effective combination of qualifications, services to be provided, understanding of the trust services needed, demonstration of the ability to identify and analyze key issues, experience with similar projects, proximity of corporate offices, assurances and availability of key personnel, benefits to the State of Vermont, and costs. VHFA will post on its Web site the firm selected to be awarded the contract after formal approval by May 8, 2007.

1.8 Engagement Letter

The firm selected to provide the Trust Services described in this RFP would be expected to complete and submit an agreed upon Engagement Letter covering the Scope and Terms of this RFP.

Section 2 — Scope of Services

VHFA is seeking a qualified financial institution to serve as the Trustee for bonds issued or to be issued by VHFA. The qualified institution will have extensive experience managing single family mortgage revenue bonds and multifamily housing bond issues, including the administration and accounting for multiple investments of such bond proceeds. In your response, describe your firm's ability to provide the services required in sections 2.1 to 2.5.

2.1 Traditional Trust Services

Describe your firm's ability to provide traditional trust services as they relate to instruments, such as, single family housing mortgage revenue bonds and multifamily housing bonds. Traditional trust services include, but are not limited to, the following:

A) Participate in any and all meetings, on an as needed basis, relating to the planning and structuring of new bond issues.

- B) Review and provide input regarding all transaction documents, including, but not limited to, the Official Statement, General or Supplemental Indentures, Resolutions or Certificates, Bond Purchase Agreements, Mortgage Origination Agreements, Repurchase Agreements and other Investment Agreements, Master Servicer Agreements and Interest Rate Swap Agreements.
- C) Provide day to day administration of the single family mortgage revenue bonds (i.e., how the firm communicates internally regarding the recordkeeping requirements for the bonds). Describe the various offices and functions regarding initial setup for a new issue, monitoring of key dates and compliance issues, procedures for accurate and timely debt service payments, and compliance with reporting requirements.
- D) Institute procedures designed to ensure (i) funds are directed into accounts as described in the General or Supplemental Indentures, Resolutions or Certificates and any instructions of VHFA; and (ii) transactions are reconciled and monitored to ensure compliance with any General or Supplemental Indentures, Resolutions or Certificates and any VHFA instructions.
- E) Provide information to bondholders regarding bond issues.
- F) Comply with dissemination requirements set forth in the transaction documents.

2.2 Traditional Trust Services with VHFA Specific Requirements

Describe your firm's ability to customize your services to meet VHFA specific requirements including, but not limited to, the following:

Bonds

- A) Ability to produce and submit single family mortgage revenue bond "Bond Call History" and "Flow of Funds" reports to meet VHFA's specifications on bond payment dates and on an as needed basis.
- B) Submit redemption notices to VHFA for all bond calls.
- C) Confirm your willingness to enter into or undertake duties under bond documents governed by Vermont law. (All of VHFA's existing Trust Agreements and Bond Resolutions are governed by Vermont law.)

Loans and Mortgage Backed Securities

- A) Ability to provide Custodial Services for Whole Loan documents (mortgage loan notes and 2nd notes, if applicable).
- B) Ability to work with VHFA and Master Servicer to purchase GNMA/Fannie Mae Mortgage Backed Securities (the "Certificates"). Ability to reconcile reports prepared by Master Servicer to ensure Certificates are purchased and principal and interest payments are recorded correctly.
- C) Ability to review all documents relating to loans and Certificates for accuracy.

- D) Process all documents related to Whole Loan payoffs and foreclosures.
- E) Ability to provide principal and interest breakdown for all loan and Certificate receipts.
- F) Ability to accept and report data from VHFA's single family participating lenders via "electronic data interface."

Investments

- A) Describe your ability to determine the fair market value of the investments held by VHFA, either as whole investments or the subject of amounts held under repurchase agreements, on a daily, weekly or monthly basis.
- B) Ability to provide interest rates to VHFA on a daily, weekly or monthly basis on all variable rate investments held in the trust accounts.
- C) Ability to determine if investments meet permitted investment and quality requirements of Agency's enabling legislation and General or Supplemental Trust Agreements or Resolutions.
- D) This Request for Proposal is for a new trustee who would take responsibility for managing the new multipurpose (single and multifamily) resolution which would apply to future bond issues. There may be a future opportunity, if the Agency decides to transition its existing agreements to a new trustee. If that decision is made in the future, a new RFP will be issued for trustee services for the existing portfolio.

However, given this assumption, please state your willingness to assume the obligations of the Trustee under the investment agreements, repurchase agreements and similar investment agreements the Agency's trustee previously has entered without any revisions, modifications or other amendments to the existing documents in the event that the Agency decides to replace its existing trustee. Copies of all such agreements are available for inspection through Scott Baker, Investment Manager. The Agency reserves the right to retain its existing trustee for its existing obligations.

E) Describe your monthly reconciliation procedures for investments.

2.3 Reporting Requirements

- A) VHFA will require the selected trustee to provide trust statements on a monthly basis. Please state your ability to provide trust statements electronically. For purposes of this RFP, provide a printed copy of a sample trust statement and explain in detail the fields that are available for adaptation to VHFA specific needs. For example, describe the flexibility and characters available for descriptions of transactions.
- B) Describe your ability to provide hard copy July 1 through June 30 year end recap statements to VHFA, VHFA auditors and bond counsel within five business days of the fiscal year end.
- C) Describe your ability to provide other reports on an as needed basis.

D) State your firm's ability to provide an annual SAS 70 report as required by the Auditor of the State of Vermont. The inability to provide the SAS 70 on an annual basis will disqualify your firm from being appointed as trustee.

2.4 <u>Electronic Capabilities</u>

- A) Describe your on-line reporting capabilities. If possible, provide a link to a site or a CD that VHFA can access to view your on-line reporting. Describe in detail the types of reports and information available from your on-line site and the ability for VHFA to download information and convert to a usable format (i.e., CSV, Excel).
- B) Describe your system capabilities to provide VHFA current day and month-to-date information as it relates to fund balances, investment balances, investment types, and daily activity.
- C) Describe availability of your on-line system; hours of availability, down time for maintenance or upgrades; multiple users and access from sites other than our main office.
- VHFA currently receives a data file monthly, by the 2nd or 3rd business day after the end D) of the month, which is downloaded into the Agency's Mitas Cash Management System. The Agency currently has two key initiatives related to improving this process. In the next 4-6 months, we will be upgrading to the latest version of the Mitas software system. We are also currently looking at streamlining our processes to shorten our monthly financial close. One process change we are considering is changing from a monthly download to a daily download. This extract of data will include the daily transactions, cash balances, market rates and interest rate information by account. Describe the ability of your system to download information to VHFA. On a quarterly basis, the Agency requires an accrual file of the interest that posts the first of the month following the quarter. Please include any information that describes "best practice" experience with downloading to Mitas systems. Also, please include any past experience in guiding other HFA's through process improvement in this area, including specific recommendations for frequency of downloads. Exhibit B to this RFP details the fields that will be required for the trust information to feed into VHFA's current accounting system. As mentioned above, VHFA is in the process of upgrading its accounting system and, once that system is upgraded, additional formatting of the data may be necessary. In your response, acknowledge your ability to provide the information in this requested format and the approximate amount of time needed to comply with this requirement.
- E) Indicate your firm's ability to interface with the Depository Trust Company and utilize the Depository Trust Company's FAST procedures.
- F) Indicate your firm's ability to wire funds and any related fees or costs.
- G) Indicate your firm's ability to accept and process electronic data files containing posting instructions, transfers and other transactions requested by VHFA.

2.5 Other Services

A) Provide us with your turnaround time for processing disbursement requests. Describe the procedures in place for immediate access of funds and other time sensitive transactions.

- B) VHFA currently uses trust services for certain funds and accounts not pledged to the bondholders. Explain your trust department's ability to maintain these accounts.
- C) Provide information regarding your firm's utilization of any tracking mechanism on performance standards such as the Bank Administration Institute (BAI) Critical Quality Indicators and/or others. For each indicator measured, provide the tracking frequency, period covered and rates attained for the last 2 measurements.
- D) Explain your ability and experience as successor of trust services for other comparable portfolios. Include in your explanation a project plan for how this procedure will work and an estimated time frame for completion. Include a list of documents you will need for the transition.
- E) Describe any technical advancements you have made that can potentially improve trust operations with the Agency.

Section 3 — Required Information to be provided in Response to Proposal

3.1 <u>Description of Firm</u>

Please describe your firm's experience serving as the trustee for single family mortgage revenue bonds and multifamily housing bonds or similar instruments. In this description of your firm, include the following:

- A) Number of years of operation of your corporate trust department.
- B) Amount of assets held or administered by your corporate trust department.
- C) Percentage of assets representing single family mortgage revenue bond and multifamily housing bonds assets.
- D) The ratings of your financial institution by national rating agencies.
- E) Trust department's organizational structure.
- F) List the number and dollar volume of housing bonds your firm has serviced as the trustee for the last 3 years. Include the name of the issuer of the housing bonds, providing separate lists for single-family and multifamily bonds.
- G) Describe the various types of bond structures your staff has administered and the number of issues for each type. The description requested should include, but is not limited to, whether the bond structures were variable rate, fixed rate, hedged, unhedged, taxable and/or tax exempt.
- H) Provide a list of your existing State Housing Agency clients.

3.2 Firm References

Please provide 3 references from issuers that have utilized your firm to provide trust services for housing bonds in the past 3 years. If your firm has serviced less than 3 housing bond issuers, you may provide references from governmental issuers issuing bonds other than housing bonds.

3.3 Staff Qualifications

Identify the specific key individuals who would be assigned to work with VHFA and specify which person would be the primary contact person with VHFA. Describe the level of staffing and service that VHFA would receive, including the nature of the work that each person would perform and his/her related professional experience with housing issues.

3.4 Staff Resumes

Please furnish resumes for each individual identified in item 3.3.

3.5 Locations

Identify the location of all of your offices where the servicing of the VHFA accounts would take place.

3.6 <u>Cost Proposal</u>

Provide a proposal for how your institution proposes to charge the Agency for the services that it will provide. Provide detail as to how charges will be computed. Include any transition fees that you would propose to charge. (While VHFA is conscious of costs and costs will be one of the factors VHFA will consider in its selection, VHFA reserves the right to award the engagement to a respondent that does not propose the lowest cost to the Agency if other factors override the higher costs).

3.7 Implementation after Selection

If selected to be the Trustee, please estimate amount of time needed to become engaged in the first bond resolution.

3.8 <u>Litigation, Administrative Proceedings, Investigations</u>

Please describe any pending or resolved material litigation, administrative proceedings or investigations in which your corporate trust department has been involved in the previous five year period.

3.9 Defaulted or Defeased Bond Issues

Describe your procedures for handling defaults or defeasance. Provide a list of any defaulted or defeased bond issues your firm has participated in. For any defaults, describe the circumstances of the default. Describe a recent workout situation your firm has administered.

3.10 Additional Information

Include a copy of your latest annual audited financial statements and Community Reinvestment Act Examination document and SAS 70 Audit.

3.11 Other Qualifications

List any other qualifications that should be considered.

Section 4 — Evaluation Process

4.1 Minimum Evaluation Requirements

A Review Committee will evaluate the responses to this RFP. Each proposal will be evaluated to ensure that the applicant has complied with each section of this RFP and followed the formatting, organizational and submission requirements as described in this RFP.

The inability to provide the SAS 70 on an annual basis (Section 2.3.D) and/or the inability to provide the electronic extract in the required format (Section 2.4.D) will disqualify your proposal from being evaluated.

4.2 Determination Criteria

The selection will be made by VHFA based upon the input of the Review Committee, senior staff and the VHFA Board of Commissioners. The selection will be based upon the responses to this RFP, with the objective being for VHFA to receive the highest quality trust services at affordable prices.

The decision of VHFA as to the ultimate selection will be final.

Section 5 — Preparing and Submitting the Proposal

5.1 Proposal Organization and Format

VHFA requires the applicant to follow the formatting described below when submitting its proposal:

- A) Proposals will be typed on standard 8.5x11 inch paper, single-spaced with one-inch margins and a 12-point font.
- B) Proposals will be organized and presented in order with the section headings and numbers as assigned in the RFP. Each heading will be clearly labeled and separated by tabs.
- C) Each response to this RFP will include as the second page a Table of Contents.

5.2 <u>Submitting the Proposal</u>

VHFA requires the applicant to submit three unbound copies of the proposal. Proposals must be mailed or hand delivered as further explained in Section 1.4, Submission of Proposal. By submitting a proposal, the applicant agrees to the following:

A) All materials submitted become the property of VHFA and shall be public information unless a statutory exception exists which would thereby determine that such information cannot be released to the public. If you have information in your proposal that you believe is an exemption to the Vermont Public Records Laws, you must identify each and every occurrence of the information in the proposal on a separate page titled "Exemptions to the Public Records Law".

- B) Applicants will respond to all requirements in this RFP and comply with any terms and conditions outlined in the RFP. Failure to do so may result in disqualification of the proposal.
- C) All costs incurred in preparation of a proposal shall be borne by the applicant. Proposal preparation costs are not recoverable under the Agreement for Services. VHFA shall not contribute in any way to recovering the cost of proposal preparation.
- D) If during the evaluation process it becomes necessary to make further distinctions between certain applicants, VHFA may request certain applicants make oral presentations of proposals to VHFA staff members, and/or the VHFA Review Committee.
- E) Proposals received after the deadline will not be reviewed. Applicants are advised that there will be no opportunity to correct mistakes or deficiencies in the proposals after the submission deadline. Proposals that are missing required information may not be evaluated. It is the sole responsibility of the applicant to ensure its proposal is complete, accurate, responsive to the requirements, and received on time. Proposals not complying with the requirements of the RFP may not be reviewed.

Exhibit A

TRUST INDENTURE

by and between

VERMONT HOUSING FINANCE AGENCY

[as Trustee],

and

Securing **Multiple Purpose Bonds**

Dated as of ______1, 2007

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Page

ARTICLE I **DETERMINATIONS AND DEFINITIONS** Section 1.01. Section 1.02. Section 1.03. Definitions 4 Hedging Transaction......11 Section 1.04. Section 1.05. **ARTICLE II** ISSUANCE OF BONDS Section 2.01. Section 2.02. Section 2.03. Section 2.04. ARTICLE III GENERAL BOND PROVISIONS Section 3.01. Section 3.02. Section 3.03. Section 3.04. Section 3.05. Section 3.06. Section 3.07. Section 3.08. Bonds Mutilated, Destroyed, Stolen or Lost......21 Section 3.09. Section 3.10. Section 3.11. Section 3.12. Cancellation of Bonds......22 Section 3.13. ARTICLE IV REDEMPTION OF BONDS Section 4.01. Section 4.02. Redemption at the Election or Direction of Agency......23

Section 4.03.	Redemption Otherwise Than at Agency's Election or Direction	23
Section 4.04.	Selection of Bonds To Be Redeemed	24
Section 4.05.	Notice of Redemption	24
Section 4.06.	Payment and Cancellation of Bonds Redeemed and Purchased	25
Section 4.07.	Redeemed Bonds as Satisfaction of Sinking Fund Installments	25
Section 4.08.	Purchase of Bonds; Tenders	25
	ARTICLE V	
ESTABLIS	SHMENT OF FUNDS AND ACCOUNTS AND APPLICATION THERE	EOF
Section 5.01.	Establishment of Funds and Accounts and Application of Bond Proceeds	26
Section 5.02.	Program Fund.	
Section 5.03.	Revenue Fund	
Section 5.04.	Debt Service Deposits	
Section 5.05.	Debt Service Fund	
Section 5.06.	Reserve Fund	31
Section 5.07.	Rebate Fund	
Section 5.08.	Special Program Fund	32
	ARTICLE VI	
	COVENANTS	
Section 6.01.	General	33
Section 6.02.	Payment of Bonds	
Section 6.03.	Personnel and Servicing of Programs	
Section 6.04.	Tax Covenants	
Section 6.05.	Accounts and Reports	
Section 6.06.	Compliance With Conditions Precedent	
Section 6.07.	Further Assurance	
Section 6.08.	Powers as to Bonds and Pledge	35
	ARTICLE VII	
DISCHARGE (OF LIEN	35
	ARTICLE VIII	
	DEFAULTS AND REMEDIES	
Section 8.01.	Events of Default	37
Section 8.02.	Remedies; Rights of Bondholders	
Section 8.02.	Right of Bondholders To Direct Proceedings	
Section 8.04.	Appointment of Receivers	
500000 0.0 7 .	rippointment of receivers	50

Section 8.05.	Application of Moneys	38
Section 8.06.	Remedies Vested in Trustee	
Section 8.07.	Rights and Remedies of Bondholders	40
Section 8.08.	Termination of Proceedings	41
Section 8.09.	Waivers of Events of Default	
Section 8.10.	Notice of Defaults Under Section 8.01(b); Opportunity of the Agency	
	To Cure Such Defaults	41
	ARTICLE IX	
	SUPPLEMENTAL INDENTURES	
Section 9.01.	Supplemental Indentures Effective Upon Filing	
Section 9.02.	Supplemental Indentures Requiring Consent of Bondholders	43
Section 9.03.	Modifications by Unanimous Consent	43
Section 9.04.	Consent of Bondholder	44
Section 9.05.	Authorization to Trustee	45
Section 9.06.	Exclusion of Bonds	45
Section 9.07.	Notation on Bonds	45
Section 9.08.	Copies of Supplemental Indentures	45
	ARTICLE X	
Γ	DEPOSITARIES OF MONEYS AND INVESTMENT OF FUNDS	
Section 10.01.	Depositaries	45
Section 10.02.	Investment of Funds and Accounts Held by Trustee	46
	ARTICLE XI	
	THE FIDUCIARIES	
Section 11.01.	Trustee and Depositaries; Appointment and Acceptance	47
Section 11.02.	Paying Agents	47
Section 11.03.	Responsibilities of Fiduciaries	47
Section 11.04.	Funds Held in Trust	
Section 11.05.	Evidence on Which Fiduciaries May Act	49
Section 11.06.	Preservation and Inspection of Documents	50
Section 11.07.	Compensation and Expenses.	
Section 11.08.	Certain Permitted Acts	
Section 11.09.	Resignation of Fiduciary	
Section 11.10.	Removal	
Section 11.11.	Appointment of Successor Fiduciary	
Section 11.12.	Transfer of Rights and Property to Successor Fiduciary	
Section 11.13.	Merger or Consolidation	
Section 11.14.	Appointment of Co-Trustee	52

ARTICLE XII

MISCELLANEOUS

Section 12.01.	Consents, etc., of Bondholders	53
Section 12.02.	Limitation of Rights	53
Section 12.03.	Severability	
Section 12.04.	Payments Due on Saturdays, Sundays and Holidays	
Section 12.05.	Applicable Provisions of Law	
Section 12.06.	No Recourse on Bonds	
Section 12.07.	Maximum Interest Rate	
Section 12.08.	Notices	54
	Counterparts	

TRUST INDENTURE

THIS TRUST INDENTURE, dated as of ________1, 2007 (this "Indenture"), is by and between VERMONT HOUSING FINANCE AGENCY, a body politic and corporate organized and existing under the Vermont Housing Finance Agency Act, as amended (the "Agency"), and [______], a national banking association organized and existing under the laws of the United States of America, as trustee (the "Trustee").

WITNESSETH:

WHEREAS, pursuant to the Constitution and the laws of the State of Vermont, particularly the Vermont Housing Finance Agency Act, being No. 260 of the Vermont Acts of 1973, Adjourned Session, as amended (the "Act"), the Agency is authorized to carry out the public purposes described in the Act by issuing its general obligation bonds and by entering into any agreements made in connection therewith; and

WHEREAS, to provide a source of funds for its programs authorized by the Act, the Agency has determined to authorize the issuance of its general obligation Multiple Purpose Bonds (the "Bonds") pursuant to this Indenture and one or more supplemental indentures or series certificates ("Supplemental Indentures") and to enter into this Indenture to secure the Bonds as hereafter described; and

WHEREAS, all things necessary to make the Bonds, when authenticated by the Trustee and issued as in this Indenture and the related Supplemental Indentures provided, the valid, binding and legal obligations of the Agency according to the import thereof, and to constitute this Indenture a valid assignment and pledge of the amounts pledged to the payment of principal of and interest on the Bonds and other obligations secured hereunder, and the creation, execution and delivery of this Indenture, and the creation, execution and issuance of the Bonds, subject to the terms hereof and of the related Supplemental Indentures, have in all respects been duly authorized; and

WHEREAS, the Trustee has accepted the trusts created by this Indenture and in evidence thereof has joined in the execution hereof;

NOW, THEREFORE, THIS TRUST INDENTURE WITNESSETH:

GRANTING CLAUSES

The Agency, in consideration of the premises and the acceptance by the Trustee of the trusts hereby created and of the purchase and acceptance of the Bonds to be issued hereunder from time to time by the holders thereof, and for other good and valuable consideration, the receipt of which is hereby acknowledged, in order to secure the payment of the principal of, interest and redemption premium, if any on the Bonds and other obligations secured hereunder according to their tenor and effect and to secure the performance and observance by the Agency of all the covenants expressed or implied herein and in the Bonds and other obligations secured hereunder, does hereby, on the terms herein provided and subject to the provisions hereof

permitting the application of amounts held hereunder and the exercise of rights in connection with the following properties, pledge and assign all right, title and interest of the Agency in and to the following unto the Trustee, and its successors in trust and assigns forever, for the securing of the performance of the obligations of the Agency hereinafter set forth and for the equal and proportionate benefit and security, from time to time, of the owners of the Bonds or any other creditors secured hereunder, without preference, priority or distinction as to lien or otherwise, except as otherwise hereinafter provided, of any one Bond over any other Bond or any other creditor secured hereunder, by reason of priority in the issue, sale or negotiation thereof or otherwise, all in accordance with the terms hereof:

All moneys and securities, including Bond proceeds (other than proceeds deposited in trust for the retirement of any outstanding Bonds or other indebtedness of the Agency), and other assets from time to time held by the Trustee under and subject to the terms of this Indenture or any Supplemental Indenture (other than amounts held in the Rebate Fund, if any) and any and all other real or personal property of every name and nature from time to time hereafter by delivery or by writing of any kind conveyed, mortgaged, pledged, assigned or transferred as and for additional security hereunder by the Agency, or by anyone in its behalf or with its written consent, to the Trustee which is hereby authorized to receive any and all such property at any and all times and to hold and apply the same subject to the terms hereof;

TO HAVE AND TO HOLD all and singular the trust estate (the "Trust Estate"), whether now owned or hereafter acquired, unto the Trustee and its respective successors in trust and assigns forever;

IN TRUST NEVERTHELESS, upon the terms and trusts herein set forth for the equal and proportionate benefit and security of all present and future owners of all Bonds without preference of any Bond over any other Bond or any other creditor secured hereunder, except as otherwise herein provided, and for enforcement of the payment of the Bonds or any other creditors secured hereunder in accordance with their terms, and all other sums payable hereunder or on the Bonds and for the performance of and compliance with the obligations, covenants and conditions of this Indenture, as if all the Bonds at any time outstanding had been authenticated, executed and delivered simultaneously with the execution and delivery of this Indenture, all as herein set forth:

PROVIDED, HOWEVER, that if the Agency, its successors or assigns shall well and truly pay, or cause to be paid, the principal of, premium, if any, and interest on the Bonds or any other obligations due or to become due thereon, at the times and in the manner mentioned in the Bonds or such obligations according to the true intent and meaning thereof, and shall cause the payments to be made as required under Article VII hereof, or shall provide, as permitted hereby, for the payment thereof by depositing with the Trustee the entire amount due or to become due thereon, and shall well and truly keep, perform and observe all the covenants and conditions pursuant to the terms of this Indenture and each and every Supplemental Indenture to be kept, performed and observed by it, and shall pay or cause to be paid to the Trustee all sums of money due or to become due in accordance with the terms and provisions hereof and each and every

Supplemental Indenture, then upon such final payments this Indenture and each and every Supplemental Indenture and the rights hereby and thereby granted shall cease, terminate and be void; otherwise this Indenture and each and every Supplemental Indenture to be and remain in full force and effect;

THIS INDENTURE FURTHER WITNESSETH, and it is expressly declared, that all Bonds or other obligations issued and secured hereunder and under each and every Supplemental Indenture are to be issued, authenticated and delivered, and all said property, rights and interests, including, without limitation, the amounts hereby assigned and pledged, are to be dealt with and disposed of, under, upon and subject to the terms, conditions, stipulations, covenants, agreements, trusts, uses and purposes hereinafter and in the related Supplemental Indenture expressed, and the Agency has agreed and covenanted, and does hereby agree and covenant, with the Trustee and with the respective owners from time to time, or at any time, of the Bonds, or any part thereof, as follows (subject, however, to the provisions of Section 1.02 hereof):

ARTICLE I

DETERMINATIONS AND DEFINITIONS

Section 1.01. Authority and Purpose. This Indenture is entered into under authority and in accordance with the provisions of the Act, for the purpose of effectuating the public purposes as set forth in the Act; and for the purpose of establishing covenants, agreements and procedures to assure that amounts will be sufficient for the repayment of money borrowed for this purpose, and that any amounts pledged hereunder exceeding the amounts needed for this purpose will be applied in accordance with law for other purposes authorized by the Act.

- **Section 1.02. Contract With Trustee and Bondholders**. As provided in the Act and in consideration of the acceptance by the Trustee of the trusts herein created and of the purchase and acceptance of Bonds issued hereunder by any who shall from time to time be holders thereof and of any other obligations of the Agency secured hereunder:
 - (a) the provisions of this Indenture shall be a contract of the Agency with the holders of the Bonds and any other obligations secured hereunder;
 - (b) the Agency pledges to the Trustee for the payment of the principal of, premium, if any, and interest on the Bonds, and the Sinking Fund Installments for the retirement thereof, if any, and any other obligations secured hereunder, at the times and in the manner provided in this Indenture and any Supplemental Indenture, and grants a security interest in, all money, Permitted Investments and other assets and income held in and receivable by the Funds and Accounts (except the Rebate Fund, if any) established by or pursuant to this Indenture and any Supplemental Indenture, subject to the right of the Agency to direct withdrawals of amounts from said Funds and Accounts upon the conditions set forth in this Indenture, which pledge constitutes a first lien on such pledged moneys and revenues;
 - (c) the pledge made and security interests granted herein and the covenants and agreements herein set forth shall be for the equal benefit, protection and security of

holders of any and all such Bonds, all of which, regardless of the time or times of their issue or maturity, shall be of equal rank without preference, priority or distinction of any Bond over any other Bond, and any other obligations secured hereunder, except as expressly provided or permitted herein;

- (d) this pledge is valid and binding from the time when made, and the property so pledged and hereafter received by the Agency shall immediately be subject to the lien thereof without any physical delivery or further act, and the lien of such pledge shall be valid and binding as against all parties having claims of any kind in tort, contract or otherwise against the Agency, whether or not such parties have notice thereof, and neither this Indenture nor any other instrument by which such pledge is created need be recorded;
- (e) the Bonds are general obligations of the Agency, for which its full faith and credit are pledged, and are payable from any of the Agency's revenues, assets or moneys, subject only to agreements made with holders of notes and bonds or other indebtedness, other than the Bonds, pledging particular revenues, moneys or assets for the payment thereof. The Bonds will not constitute a debt of the State or any political subdivision thereof, and neither the State nor any of its political subdivisions are liable thereon. The Bonds will not constitute a debt or liability or obligation or a pledge of the faith and credit of the State but will be payable solely from the revenues or assets of the Agency. The State is not liable on the Bonds and the Bonds are not a debt of the State and neither the faith and credit nor the taxing power of the State is pledged to the payment of the principal of or the interest on the Bonds; and
- (f) the State has agreed that it will not limit or restrict the rights vested in the Agency to perform its obligations and to fulfill the terms of any agreement made with the Holders of the Bonds, or in any way impair the rights and remedies of the Bondholders, until the Bonds, together with the interest thereon and interest on any unpaid installments of interest, are fully met, paid and discharged.
- **Section 1.03. Definitions**. In this Indenture, unless a different meaning clearly appears from the context, the following terms have the following respective meanings:
- "Accountant" means the accountant or firm of accountants who regularly audit the books and accounts of the Agency.
 - "Accountant's Certificate" means an opinion or report signed by any Accountant.
- "Accounts" means the Accounts established pursuant to this Indenture or any Supplemental Indenture.
- "Act" means the Vermont Housing Finance Agency Act, No. 260 of Vermont Acts of 1973, Adjourned Session, as amended from time to time.
 - "Agency" shall mean the Vermont Housing Finance Agency and any successor thereto.

"Amortized Value" means, for securities purchased at a premium above or a discount below par, the value as of any given date obtained by amortizing the premium or discount over the period from the date of such purchase to the date of calculation at the original yield to maturity.

"Appreciated Amount" means with respect to a Deferred Interest Bond, (a) as of any date of computation with respect to any Deferred Interest Bond up to the date, if any, set forth in the Supplemental Indenture authorizing such Deferred Interest Bond as the date on which such Deferred Interest Bond shall commence to bear interest payable thereafter on applicable Interest Payment Dates, an amount equal to the initial principal amount of such Deferred Interest Bond plus the interest accrued on such Deferred Interest Bond from the date of original issuance of such Deferred Interest Bond to the applicable Interest Payment Date next preceding the date of computation or the date of computation if an applicable Interest Payment Date, such increased amount to accrue at the rate per annum set forth in the Supplemental Indenture authorizing such Deferred Interest Bonds, compounded on each applicable Interest Payment Date, plus, if such date of computation shall not be an applicable Interest Payment Date, a portion of the difference between the Appreciated Amount as of the immediately preceding applicable Interest Payment Date (or the date of original issuance if the date of computation is prior to the first applicable Interest Payment Date succeeding the date of original issuance) and the Appreciated Amount as of the immediately succeeding applicable Interest Payment Date, calculated based upon an assumption that the Appreciated Amount accrues in equal daily amounts on the basis set forth in the Supplemental Indenture authorizing such Deferred Interest Bonds; and (b) as of any date of computation on and after the date, if any, set forth in the Supplemental Indenture authorizing such Deferred Interest Bond as the date on which such Deferred Interest Bond shall commence to bear interest payable thereafter on applicable Interest Payment Dates, the Appreciated Amount as of such current interest payment commencement date.

For the purposes of (a) actions, requests, notifications, consents or directions of Bondowners under this Indenture, (b) required payment upon default or anticipated default pursuant to acceleration of maturity or otherwise as described in Article VIII hereof, the calculation of the Appreciated Amount shall be as of the applicable Interest Payment Dates for such Deferred Interest Bond, as specified in a Supplemental Indenture, preceding such date of calculation (unless such date of calculation shall be an Interest Payment Date, in which case, as of the date of calculation).

"Authorized Officer" means the Chair, Vice Chair, Executive Director and Secretary, Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer, and Chief of Program Operations of the Agency or any other person authorized by resolution of the Agency to perform an act or sign a document.

"Bond" or "Bonds" means any Bond or Bonds authorized and issued pursuant to this Indenture and a Supplemental Indenture.

"Bondholder" or "holder of Bonds" or "owner of Bonds" means the registered owner of any Bond.

"Bond Year" means a 12-month period (or shorter initial or ending year period) commencing on July 1 in each year that Bonds are Outstanding and ending on June 30 of the succeeding year.

"Book Entry System" means such system for registering the Bonds of one or more Series set forth in a Supplemental Indenture.

"Business Day" means any day other than a Saturday, Sunday, a day on which the offices of the Agency are closed, or any other day on which the New York Stock Exchange or banks are authorized or obligated by law or executive order to close in New York, New York or in any city in which is located the corporate trust operations office of the Trustee or such other date as set forth in a Supplemental Indenture.

"Cash Equivalent" means a letter of credit, insurance policy, surety, guarantee or other security arrangement (as defined and provided for in a Supplemental Indenture), which Cash Equivalent shall have such terms necessary to maintain the Rating of the Bonds.

"Certificate" means a certificate of an Authorized Officer.

"Code" means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, and any regulations promulgated thereunder; each reference to a Section of the Code herein shall be deemed to include the United States Treasury regulations proposed or in effect thereunder and applied to the Bonds or the use of the proceeds thereof, and also includes all amendments and successor provisions unless the context requires otherwise.

"Counsel" means any attorney or firm of attorneys (who may be employed by or of counsel to the Agency or an attorney or firm of attorneys retained by it in other connections) licensed to practice in the state in which he/she or it maintains an office (and if the opinion is with respect to an interpretation of federal tax laws or regulations or with respect to the issuance of an additional Series of Bonds or interpretation or application of this Indenture, is also a nationally recognized attorney or firm of attorneys experienced in such matters), selected or employed by the Agency.

"Counsel's Opinion" means an opinion signed by any Counsel.

"Current Interest-Bearing Bonds" means Bonds as to which interest is payable on each Interest Payment Date.

"Date of Original Issuance" means, with respect to a particular Series of Bonds, the date on which the Agency initially issues such Series of Bonds.

"Debt Service Fund" means the Fund so designated which is established by Section 5.01 hereof.

"Deferred Interest Bonds" means the Bonds so designated in a Supplemental Indenture but shall not include any such Bond from and after the date, if any, on which such Bond will bear interest that is payable to the holder of such Bond prior to its scheduled maturity.

6

"Depositary" means any bank or trust company or national banking association selected by the Agency as a depositary of moneys or securities held under the provisions of this Indenture and may include the Trustee and any Paying Agent.

"Event of Default" means the occurrence of any event specified in Section 8.01 hereof.

"Excess Earnings" means excess investment earnings, net of any credits or offsets thereto, which must be rebated to the United States of America pursuant to Section 143(g) of the Code.

"Executive Director" means the Executive Director of the Agency appointed pursuant to the Act, or his or her designee.

"Executive Director's Determination" means a Certificate signed by the Executive Director, delivered to the Trustee and the Rating Agency, reflecting modifications to this Indenture with respect to one or more Series of Bonds, as permitted or required by the express terms of this Indenture or the Supplemental Indenture related to such Series.

"FDIC" means the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation or any successor thereto.

"Federal Agency Obligations" means bonds, debentures or other obligations issued by the Federal National Mortgage Association, the Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation, the Federal Farm Credit Bank, any Federal Home Loan Bank, the Student Loan Marketing Association (more commonly known as Sallie Mae), the Resolution Funding Corporation, the Tennessee Valley Authority, any Federal Loan Bank or the Government National Mortgage Association and any other obligations of any agency controlled or supervised by and acting as an instrumentality of the United States Government pursuant to authority granted by the Congress of the United States.

"Federal Obligations" means direct obligations of the United States or other obligations the timely payment of principal and interest of which is fully and unconditionally guaranteed by the United States.

"Fiduciary" means the Trustee and any Paying Agent.

"Fiscal Year" means the period of 12 calendar months commencing on July 1 in any calendar year and ending on June 30 in the following year.

"Hedge Agreement" means a payment exchange agreement, swap agreement, forward purchase agreement or any other hedge agreement entered into by the Agency providing for payments between the parties based on levels of, or changes in, interest rates or other indices or contracts to exchange cash flows or a series of payments or contracts, including, without limitation, interest rate floors, or caps, options, puts or calls, which allows the Agency to manage or hedge payment, rate, spread or similar risk with respect to all or a portion of any Series of Bonds or any assets pledged under this Indenture.

7

"HUD" means the Department of Housing and Urban Development and any successor thereto and shall include FHA, as dictated by context.

"Indenture" means this Trust Indenture dated as of ______, 1, 2007 between the Agency and the Trustee, as amended and supplemented from time to time in accordance with its terms.

"Interest Payment Date" means any date upon which interest on Bonds is payable in accordance with their terms and the terms of this Indenture or any Supplemental Indenture.

"Interest Period" means the period or periods specified in a Supplemental Indenture.

"Notice Address" means the address designated in writing by the Agency, the Trustee or the Rating Agency to the other party to which subsequent notices, certificates or other communications hereunder shall be sent.

"Original Principal Amount" shall mean the aggregate original amount at which each maturity of the Deferred Interest Bonds of any Series shall initially be offered to the public, as set forth in the Supplemental Indenture.

"Outstanding" or "Bonds Outstanding" means all Bonds which have been authenticated and delivered by the Trustee under this Indenture, except:

- (a) Bonds canceled after purchase in the open market or because of payment at or redemption prior to maturity;
- (b) Bonds for the payment or redemption of which cash funds or Federal Obligations or any combination thereof shall have been theretofore deposited with the Trustee (whether upon or prior to the maturity or redemption date of any such Bonds); provided that if such Bonds are to be redeemed prior to the maturity thereof, notice of such redemption shall have been given or arrangements satisfactory to the Trustee shall have been made therefor, or waiver of such notice satisfactory in form to the Trustee shall have been filed with the Trustee;
- (c) Bonds in lieu of which other Bonds have been executed and delivered under Section 3.09 hereof; and
 - (d) Bonds otherwise specified in a Supplemental Indenture.

"Paying Agent" means any bank or trust company designated pursuant to this Indenture to serve as a paying agency or place of payment for a Series of Bonds, and any successors designated pursuant to this Indenture or a Supplemental Indenture.

"Permitted Investments" means any of the following which at the time are legal investments under the law of the State for funds held under the Indenture which are then proposed to be invested hereunder: (a) Federal Obligations; (b) obligations of any state of the United States of America or any political subdivision of such a state (such obligations of which are rated in the highest long-term rating category by the Rating Agency); (c) Federal Agency

Obligations; (d) repurchase agreements collateralized by securities described in (a), (b) or (c) above with any institution that will not adversely affect the Rating of the Bonds at the time of purchase; (e) investment agreements, secured or unsecured as required by the Agency, with any institution that will not adversely affect the Rating of the Bonds at the time of execution; (f) any of the following obligations that would not adversely affect the Rating of the Bonds at the time of purchase: (i) time deposits, certificates of deposit or any other deposit with federally or state-chartered banks (including the Trustee and its affiliates), the deposits of which are fully insured by the FDIC, (ii) commercial paper, (iii) shares of a money market mutual fund or other collective investment fund registered under the Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended, whose shares are registered under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, having assets of at least \$100 million, and (iv) any other investment with a financial institution, provided that it is expressly understood that the definition of Permitted Investments shall be, and be deemed to be, expanded, or new definitions and related provisions shall be added to the Indenture, thus permitting investments with different characteristics from those permitted which the Executive Director deems from time to time to be in the interest of the Agency to include as Permitted Investments, as reflected in an Executive Director's Determination, or in a Supplemental Indenture if at the time of inclusion such inclusion will not, in and of itself, adversely affect the then current Rating on the Bonds.

"Principal" or "principal" means (a) unless otherwise provided herein or in a Supplemental Indenture, as such term references the principal amount of a Deferred Interest Bond or Deferred Interest Bonds, the Appreciated Amount thereof, and (b) as such term references the principal amount of any other Bond or Bonds, the principal amount at maturity of such Bond or Bonds.

"Program Fund" means the Fund so designated which is established by Section 5.01 hereof.

"Provider" means any person or entity providing a Qualified Hedge Agreement pursuant to agreement with or upon the request of the Agency.

"Qualified Hedge Agreement" means a Hedge Agreement which meets the tests of Section 1.04(a).

"Qualified Institution" means (a) a bank, a trust company, a national banking association, a federal branch pursuant to the International Banking Act of 1978 or any successor provisions of law, a domestic branch or agency of a foreign bank which branch or agency is duly licensed or authorized to do business under the laws of any state or territory of the United States of America, a savings bank, a savings and loan association, or an insurance company or association chartered or organized under the laws of any state of the United States of America, a corporation, a trust, a partnership, an unincorporated organization, or a government or an agency, instrumentality, program, account, fund, political subdivision or corporation thereof, in each case the unsecured or uncollateralized long-term debt obligations of which, or obligations secured or supported by a letter of credit, contract, agreement or surety bond issued by any such organization, at the time a Qualified Hedge Agreement is entered into by the Agency are either (i) rated at least as high as the Bonds by each Rating Agency which rates such obligations or (ii) such that entering into a Qualified Hedge Agreement with such entity will not adversely affect the then current Ratings, if

9

any, assigned to the Bonds by each Rating Agency or (b) the Government National Mortgage Association or any successor thereto, the Federal National Mortgage Association or any successor thereto, or any other federal agency or instrumentality the obligations of which are backed by the full faith and credit of the United States of America.

"Rating" means, with respect to any Series of Bonds, the then-current rating or ratings assigned by the Rating Agency pursuant to the request of the Agency without regard to the benefit of any bond insurance or other credit enhancement relating to any Bond.

"Rating Agency" means a nationally recognized organization that has an outstanding rating on the Bonds pursuant to the request of the Agency.

"Rebate Fund" means the Fund so designated which is established, if so elected by the Agency, pursuant to Section 5.01 hereof.

"Record Date" means any Regular Record Date, Special Record Date or Redemption Record Date.

"Redemption Record Date" means the date or dates set forth in the Supplemental Indenture authorizing the particular Series of Bonds.

"Refunding Issue" means any Bonds delivered pursuant to Section 2.03 hereof.

"Regular Record Date" means the date or dates set forth in the Supplemental Indenture authorizing the particular Series of Bonds.

"Reserve Fund" means the Fund so designated which is established by Section 5.01 hereof.

"Reserve Requirement" means, as of any particular date of calculation, the aggregate of the amounts specified, if any, as the Reserve Requirement in the Supplemental Indentures authorizing the outstanding Series of Bonds.

"Revenue Fund" means the Fund so designated which is established by Section 5.01 hereof.

"Serial Bonds" means the Bonds which are so designated as Serial Bonds in a Supplemental Indenture.

"Series" means, unless otherwise specified in a Supplemental Indenture, all of the Bonds authenticated and delivered on original issuance in a simultaneous transaction pursuant to a Supplemental Indenture, and any Bonds thereafter delivered in lieu of or in substitution for such Bonds pursuant to Article III, regardless of variations in maturity, interest rate, Sinking Fund Installments or other provisions.

"Sinking Fund Installment" means any amount of money required by or pursuant to this Indenture or a Supplemental Indenture to be paid on a specified date toward the retirement of any particular Term Bonds of a Series before maturity.

"Special Program Fund" means the Fund so designated which is established, if so elected by the Agency, pursuant to Section 5.01 hereof.

"Special Record Date" means the date described in Section 3.01 hereof.

"State" means the State of Vermont.

"Supplemental Indenture" means an indenture supplemental to or amendatory of this Indenture, adopted by the Agency in accordance with Article IX.

"*Term Bonds*" means that portion of a Series of Bonds so designated in a Supplemental Indenture as Term Bonds.

"Trustee" means _______, a national banking association, its successor or successors and any other corporation or association which may at any time be substituted in its place pursuant to this Indenture.

Section 1.04. Hedging Transaction.

- (a) A Hedge Agreement is a Qualified Hedge Agreement if (i) the Provider of the Hedge Agreement is a Qualified Institution or the Provider's obligations under the Hedge Agreement are unconditionally guaranteed by a Qualified Institution and (ii) the Agency designates it as such by a certificate of an Authorized Officer.
- (b) If the Agency shall enter into any Qualified Hedge Agreement with respect to any Bonds and the Agency has made a determination that the Qualified Hedge Agreement was entered into for the purpose of hedging or managing the interest due with respect to specified Bonds, then during the term of the Qualified Hedge Agreement and so long as the Provider of the Qualified Hedge Agreement is not in default:
 - (i) for purposes of any calculation of debt service, the interest rate on the Bonds with respect to which the Qualified Hedge Agreement applies shall be determined as if such Bonds had interest payments equal to the interest payable on those Bonds less any payments reasonably expected to be made to the Agency by the Provider and plus any payments reasonably expected to be made by the Agency to the Provider in accordance with the terms of the Qualified Hedge Agreement (other than fees or termination payments payable to such Provider for providing the Qualified Hedge Agreement);
 - (ii) any such payments (other than fees and termination payments) required to be made by the Agency to the Provider pursuant to such Qualified Hedge Agreement shall be made from amounts on deposit in the Debt Service Fund pursuant to Section 5.05(a) or (b), unless otherwise specified by the Agency to be paid from other moneys;

- (iii) any such payments received by or for the account of the Agency from the Provider pursuant to such Qualified Hedge Agreement shall be deposited in the Revenue Fund; and
- (iv) fees not equivalent to regular Bond debt service payments and termination payments, if any, payable to the Provider may be deemed to be debt service and paid from amounts on deposit in the Revenue Fund but subordinate to payment of principal, interest and Sinking Fund Installments on the Bonds (and amounts equivalent to such payments payable to a Provider under a Hedge Agreement) or such funds in Section 5.03(e) as are specifically designated by the Agency in each case if and to the extent expressly provided in the Qualified Hedge Agreement or applicable Supplemental Indenture (otherwise such fees and termination payments shall be payable solely from amounts on deposit in the Reserve Fund not needed to restore the Reserve Fund to the Reserve Requirement).

Section 1.05. Interpretation. The following principles govern the interpretation of other words and phrases used in this Indenture and any Supplemental Indenture:

- (a) Articles, sections, paragraphs and clauses mentioned by number only are those so numbered which are contained in this Indenture:
- (b) Captions, titles or headings preceding any article or section herein, and any table of contents or index attached hereto, are solely for convenience of reference and are not part of this Indenture and shall not affect its meaning, construction or effect;
- (c) Terms such as "herein," "hereunder," "hereby," "hereto" and "hereof" refer to this Indenture, or when used in conjunction with a subsection refer to the Section of which such subsection is a part and not to any particular section hereof unless so indicated, and "heretofore" and "hereafter" mean before and after the date of execution and delivery of this Indenture, respectively;
- (d) Words importing the masculine gender include the feminine and neuter genders;
- (e) Words importing persons include firms, associations, corporations and any other legal entities;
- (f) Words importing the redemption or redeeming or calling for redemption of a Bond do not include or connote the payment of such Bond at its stated maturity or the purchase of such Bond;
- (g) Words importing the singular number include the plural number, and vice versa; and
- (h) Except as otherwise specifically provided herein, all references to a particular time shall be to New York City time.

ARTICLE II

ISSUANCE OF BONDS

Section 2.01. Authorization.

(a) To provide sufficient funds to carry out its public purposes and programs as set forth in the Act and to refund outstanding bonds and other obligations of the Agency, Bonds may be issued under and secured by this Indenture subject to the provisions of this Article. The Agency has ascertained and it is hereby determined and declared that the execution and delivery of this Indenture is necessary to carry out the powers and duties expressly provided by the Act, that each and every act, matter, thing or course of conduct as to which provision is made herein is necessary or convenient in order to carry out and effectuate the purposes of the Agency in accordance with the Act and to carry out powers expressly given in the Act, and that each and every covenant or agreement herein contained and made is necessary, useful or convenient in order to better secure the Bonds and is a contract or agreement necessary, useful and convenient to carry out and effectuate the purposes of the Agency under the Act.

The Bonds issued hereunder, regardless of the time or times of their issue or maturity, shall be of equal rank without preference, priority or distinction of any Bond over any other Bond, except as expressly provided or permitted herein. There is hereby created, in the manner and to the extent provided herein, a continuing pledge and lien on the Trust Estate to secure the full and final payment of the principal and redemption price of and interest on all the Outstanding Bonds. The aggregate principal amount of the Bonds which may be executed, authenticated and delivered under this Indenture is not limited except as is or may hereafter be provided in this Indenture, any Supplemental Indenture or as may be limited by law.

The Bonds may, if and when authorized pursuant to one or more Supplemental Indentures, be issued in one or more Series, and the designation thereof, in addition to the name "Vermont Housing Finance Agency Multiple Purpose Bonds," shall include such further appropriate particular designation, added to or incorporated in such title for the Bonds of any particular Series, as specified in such Supplemental Indenture or Supplemental Indentures. Each Bond shall bear upon its face the designation so determined for the Series to which it belongs.

(b) The Bonds shall be general obligations of the Agency, for which its full faith and credit are pledged, and are payable from any of the Agency's revenues, assets or moneys, subject only to agreements made with Holders of notes and bonds or other indebtedness, other than the Bonds, pledging particular revenues, moneys or assets for the payment thereof. The Bonds will not constitute a debt of the State of Vermont or any political subdivision thereof, and neither said State nor any of its political subdivisions are liable thereon. The Bonds will not constitute a debt or liability or obligation or a pledge of the faith and credit of the State of Vermont or of any political subdivision thereof but will be payable solely from the revenues or assets of the Agency. The State of Vermont is not liable on the Bonds and the Bonds are not a debt of the State of

Vermont or of any political subdivision thereof and neither the faith and credit nor the taxing power of the State of Vermont or of any political subdivision thereof is pledged to the payment of the principal of or the interest on the Bonds and the Bonds of each Series shall contain on the face thereof substantially the following statement: THIS BOND IS A GENERAL OBLIGATION OF THE AGENCY FOR WHICH ITS FULL FAITH AND CREDIT ARE PLEDGED, AND IS PAYABLE FROM ANY OF THE AGENCY'S REVENUES, ASSETS OR MONEYS, SUBJECT ONLY TO AGREEMENTS MADE WITH HOLDERS OF OTHER NOTES AND BONDS OF THE AGENCY PLEDGING PARTICULAR REVENUES, MONEYS OR ASSETS FOR THE PAYMENT THEREOF. THE AGENCY HAS NO TAXING POWER. THIS BOND DOES NOT CONSTITUTE A DEBT, LIABILITY OR OBLIGATION OF THE STATE OF VERMONT OR OF ANY POLITICAL SUBDIVISION THEREOF OR A PLEDGE OF THE FAITH AND CREDIT OF THE STATE OF VERMONT OR OF ANY POLITICAL SUBDIVISION THEREOF. NEITHER THE FAITH AND CREDIT NOR THE TAXING POWER OF THE STATE OF VERMONT OR OF ANY POLITICAL SUBDIVISION THEREOF IS PLEDGED TO THE PAYMENT OF THE PRINCIPAL OF OR INTEREST ON THIS BOND.

Section 2.02. Conditions Precedent to the Issuance of Bonds.

- (a) All (but not less than all) of the Bonds of each Series, except in connection with a Refunding Issue, shall be executed by the Agency for issuance and delivery under this Indenture, delivered to the Trustee for authentication and, upon authentication by the Trustee, delivered upon order of the Agency, but only upon receipt by the Trustee of:
 - (i) A Counsel's Opinion, dated the date of delivery thereof, with respect to the issuance of the Bonds in a form acceptable to the Agency as specified in the Supplemental Indenture.
 - (ii) A request and authorization to the Trustee on behalf of the Agency, signed by an Authorized Officer, to authenticate and deliver such Bonds to the purchaser or purchasers therein identified upon payment to the Trustee for the account of the Agency of the purchase price therefor.
 - (iii) A copy of the Supplemental Indenture authorizing such Bonds, which shall specify:
 - (A) The authorized principal amount and Series designation of such Bonds;
 - (B) The purpose or purposes for which such Series of Bonds is being issued;
 - (C) The Date or Dates of Original Issuance, the maturity date or dates and amounts of each maturity (or the method of determining the

same) and, if interest is to be paid, the Interest Payment Dates and the first Interest Payment Date of the Bonds of such Series;

- (D) The interest rate or rates (if any) or the maximum interest rate of the Bonds of such Series, or the manner of determining such rate or rates;
- (E) The portion, if any, of the Series of Bonds that is Term Bonds, that is Serial Bonds or that is otherwise designated by a specific name or term;
- (F) The amount and due date of each Sinking Fund Installment, if any, or the method of determining the same, for the Term Bonds or other Bonds subject to a Sinking Fund Installment;
- (G) The denominations of, and the manner of dating, numbering and lettering, the Bonds of such Series, the forms of the Bonds and the Record Date or Dates and Redemption Record Dates for such Series of Bonds:
- (H) The provisions of the Trustee's certificate of authentication;
- (I) If not already determined pursuant hereto, the Paying Agent or Paying Agents, Depositaries, market agents, auction agents, securities depositary, if any, and the place or places of payment of the principal and redemption price, if any, of the Bonds of such Series;
- (J) The redemption price or prices, if any, and, subject to Article IV hereof, the redemption terms (including the time or times and the terms and conditions upon which the Bonds of such Series may be redeemed prior to their maturities, including, without limitation, the method of selection for redemption as among maturities and Series), if any, for the Bonds of such Series;
- (K) The use of the proceeds of the Bonds of such series, including the amounts (if any) to be deposited in any Fund or Account from the proceeds of the Bonds of such Series or otherwise;
- (L) The Reserve Requirement for such Series and the amount, if any, necessary for deposit in the Reserve Fund in order that amounts therein equal or exceed the Reserve Requirement;
- (M) The time, place and manner of the sale for the Bonds of such Series, as provided in the Act;

- (N) Whether Bonds of such Series are to be secured by credit enhancement and, if so, the form of credit enhancement to be obtained, the identity of the credit enhancement agency and the substantial form of the significant documents relating to the credit enhancement;
- (O) Whether Bonds of such Series are to contain any tender or put options or the like and, if so, whether and to what extent such tender or put option will be secured by a liquidity facility and any alternative liquidity facility, whether such Bonds are to be remarketed following or in connection with such tender or put and, if so, the identity of any remarketing agent and the substantial form of any remarketing agreement relating to such Bonds, and whether and upon what terms such Bonds may be converted to fixed interest rates:
- (P) Whether interest on the Bonds of such Series is intended to be excludable from gross income for federal income tax purposes pursuant to Section 103(a) of the Code or any successor statute thereto;
- (Q) Such additional matters as may be necessary or appropriate to cause interest on the Bonds of the Series to be issued pursuant to such Supplemental Indenture to be excludable from gross income for federal income tax purposes pursuant to Section 103(a) of the Code if it is intended that interest on the Bonds be so exempt and to prevent the issuance of such Series from adversely affecting the federal income tax treatment of any Outstanding Bonds and the interest thereon intended to be so exempt; and
- (R) Any other provisions deemed advisable by the Agency as shall not conflict with the provisions of this Indenture or the Act.
- (iv) A Certificate stating that (A) the principal amount of the Bonds then to be issued, together with the principal amount of the Bonds, notes and other obligations theretofore issued pursuant to the Act, will not exceed in aggregate principal amount any limitation thereon imposed herein or by law; (B) upon the issuance and delivery of such Bonds, the Reserve Requirement will be met; and (C) except in the case of Refunding Bonds, at the time of issuance of such additional Bonds, the Agency shall not be in default in the performance of any of the covenants, conditions, agreements or provisions contained in this Indenture.
- (v) With respect to each Series of Bonds issued pursuant to this Indenture (other than the initial Series of Bonds), evidence that the Rating Agency has confirmed that such Series will have a Rating no lower than the Rating assigned to Bonds issued prior to the issuance of such Series of Bonds to be issued.

- (vi) If such Series of Bonds is to have the benefit of a liquidity facility or be secured by credit enhancement, the executed liquidity facility or credit enhancement or evidence that all conditions precedent to the issuance of such liquidity facility or credit enhancement have been met as of the date of issuance of such Series of Bonds.
- (vii) Such further documents and moneys as are required by the provisions of Article IX or any related Supplemental Indenture adopted pursuant to Article IX.
- (b) All the Bonds of each Series shall be in fully registered form and, to the extent so provided herein and in the related Supplemental Indenture, may be issued in book-entry form only. After the original issuance of Bonds of any Series, no Bonds of such Series shall be issued except in exchange or transfer for other Bonds of such Series pursuant to Article III.

Section 2.03. Provisions for Refunding Issue.

- (a) Subject to the laws of the State, including, but not limited to, the Act, as amended from time to time, Bonds of one or more Series may be issued and delivered, in accordance with the terms and conditions of this Section 2.03, for the purpose of refunding any Bonds then Outstanding or any other bonds of the Agency. The Supplemental Indenture authorizing each such Series of Bonds of a Refunding Issue shall set forth that the purposes for which such Series of Bonds is issued are the payment or redemption of any part or all of the Bonds of any one or more Series then Outstanding, and, if the expenses of such issuance and payment or redemption are not otherwise provided for, the payment of the expenses of such issuance and redemption, and shall contain a description of the bonds so to be redeemed.
- (b) The Bonds of the Series of a Refunding Issue may be issued, and authenticated by the Trustee, only if:
 - (i) There shall thereupon be deposited with the Trustee either:
 - (A) moneys in an amount sufficient to effect payment at the applicable maturity or redemption price of the Bonds to be refunded, together with accrued interest on such Bonds to the maturity or redemption date, which moneys shall be held by the Trustee in a separate account irrevocably in trust for the holders of Outstanding Bonds being refunded; or
 - (B) Permitted Investments in such principal amounts, having such maturities, bearing such interest and otherwise having such terms and qualifications as shall be required to pay the applicable maturity or redemption price of the Bonds to be refunded, together with accrued interest on such Bonds to the maturity or redemption date, which

Permitted Investments shall be held in trust for the holders of Outstanding Bonds being refunded;

- (ii) The Trustee has received instructions, satisfactory to it, to give due notice of redemption of all the Bonds so to be redeemed on a redemption date specified in such instructions, as such date may be revised in a Certificate, and to give notice in the manner provided in Section 4.05 that the moneys payable upon such redemption will be available on said redemption date for payment to the holders of the Bonds entitled thereto;
- (iii) The Trustee shall furnish to the Agency at the time of delivery of the Series of Bonds of the Refunding Issue a certificate or other evidence satisfactory to the Trustee stating that it holds or there is being held in trust the Permitted Investments and/or moneys required to effect such redemption; and
- (iv) The requirements set forth in Section 2.02 hereof have been satisfied.

Section 2.04. Other Obligations. So long as any Bonds are Outstanding, the Agency hereby covenants that it will not create or permit the creation of or issue any obligations or create any additional indebtedness (other than additional Series of Bonds) which will be secured by a superior or equal charge or superior or equal lien on the amounts pledged hereunder or will be payable, on an equal or superior basis, from any of the Funds or Accounts established and created by or pursuant to this Indenture. The Agency may, however, issue evidences of indebtedness (including general obligations of the Agency) not issued and secured under this Indenture.

ARTICLE III

GENERAL BOND PROVISIONS

Section 3.01. Medium of Payment; Form and Date.

(a) The Bonds shall be payable, with respect to interest, principal and premium, if any, in any coin or currency of the United States of America which at the time of payment is legal tender for the payment of public and private debts, or in such other coin or currency as set forth in a Supplemental Indenture. Payment of interest (other than at a stated maturity date) and premium, if any, on, and principal (payable upon redemption) of, the Bonds will be made by wire transfer to the person in whose name each Bond is registered at the close of business on the Regular Record Date or the Redemption Record Date, as the case may be, so long as ownership of such Bond is registered in book-entry form; provided, however, that, if the event of a default in the payment of interest due on any Interest Payment Date, such interest shall cease to be payable to the person in whose name such Bond was registered on such Record Date and shall be payable, when and if paid, to the person in whose name such Bond is registered at the close of business on the record date fixed therefor by the Trustee (each a "Special Record Date"), which shall not be more than 15 days and not less than 10 days prior to the date of the proposed payment. Interest on the Bonds shall be paid when due, if

ownership of such Series of the Bonds is not maintained in book-entry form, by check or draft drawn on the Trustee and mailed by the Trustee to the registered owner at the address shown on the registration books of the Trustee as of the Record Date. Payment of principal and interest on the stated maturity date on each of the Series of Bonds will be made upon presentation and surrender of each Bond of such Series, at the office of the Trustee or the Paying Agent maintained for that purpose. CUSIP number identification with appropriate dollar amount of payment pertaining to each CUSIP number (if such payment represents payment on more than one Bond identified by a particular CUSIP number) shall accompany all payments of principal of, premium, if any, and interest on the Bonds.

- Current Interest-Bearing Bonds of each Series issued prior to the first (b) Interest Payment Date thereof shall be dated as of the date or dates specified in the Supplemental Indenture authorizing the issuance thereof. Bonds issued on or subsequent to the first Interest Payment Date shall be dated as of the date of authentication of the Bonds and interest shall be paid from the Interest Payment Date next preceding the date of authentication, unless such date of delivery shall be an Interest Payment Date in which case they shall be dated as of such date of delivery; provided, however, that if, as shown by the records of the Trustee, interest on the Bonds of any Series shall be in default, the Bonds of such Series issued in lieu of Bonds surrendered for transfer or exchange shall be dated as of the date to which interest has been paid in full on the Bonds surrendered. Deferred Interest Bonds of any Series shall be dated as of the date or dates specified in the Supplemental Indenture authorizing the issuance thereof. Except as set forth in a Supplemental Indenture, Bonds of each Series shall bear interest from their dated date until the first Interest Payment Date and thereafter from the Interest Payment Date next preceding the date of their authentication by the Trustee (unless authenticated on an Interest Payment Date, in which case they shall bear interest from such Interest Payment Date or, in the case of Bonds issued while interest on the Bonds shall be in default, from the date to which interest has been paid in full).
- (c) For all purposes of the Act relating to or dealing with the date of the Bonds, Bonds of any Series shall be deemed to be dated as of the Date of Original Issuance specified for the Bonds of such Series in the Supplemental Indenture authorizing the issuance thereof.
- (d) All Bonds of each Series shall mature or be subject to a Sinking Fund Installment, if any, on the date or dates fixed by a Supplemental Indenture. Interest on all Current Interest-Bearing Bonds of each Series shall be payable on the dates set forth in the applicable Supplemental Indenture. The first installment of interest due on the Bonds of a Series may be for such period as set forth in a Supplemental Indenture. Interest on any Deferred Interest Bonds of a Series shall be payable as set forth in a Supplemental Indenture (which may be upon maturity or earlier redemption of such Bonds or such date or dates prior to maturity or earlier redemption of such Bonds as specified in a Supplemental Indenture).

Section 3.02. Legends. The Bonds of each Series may contain or have endorsed thereon such provisions, specifications and descriptive words not inconsistent with the provisions of this Indenture as may be necessary or appropriate to conform to any applicable rules and regulations of any governmental authority or any usage or requirement of law with respect thereto or as may be authorized by the Agency prior to the delivery thereof.

Section 3.03. Execution and Authentication.

- (a) The Bonds of each Series shall be signed by, or bear the facsimile signature of, the Chair or Vice Chair and attested by the Secretary or such other person or persons designated in the applicable Supplemental Indenture, and, if required by the Act or other applicable law, the seal of the Agency or a facsimile thereof shall be impressed or imprinted on the Bonds. In case any officer who shall have signed any of the Bonds or whose signature appears on any of the Bonds shall cease to be such officer before the Bonds are actually delivered, such Bonds may, nevertheless, be delivered as herein provided, and may be issued as if the persons who signed them or whose signatures appear thereon had not ceased to hold such office or be so employed. Any Bond of a Series may be signed by such persons as at the actual time of the execution of such Bond shall be duly authorized or shall be the proper officers to sign such Bond, although on the Date of Original Issuance of a Series of Bonds such persons may not have been such officers.
- (b) Only such of the Bonds as shall have endorsed thereon a certificate of authentication substantially in the form set forth in the applicable Supplemental Indenture, duly executed by the Trustee, shall be entitled to any benefit or security under this Indenture. No Bond shall be valid or obligatory for any purpose or entitled to any security or benefit under this Indenture unless and until a certificate of authentication on such Bond shall have been duly executed by the Trustee, and such executed certificate of the Trustee upon any such Bond shall be conclusive evidence that such Bond has been authenticated and delivered under this Indenture. The Trustee's certificate of authentication on any Bond shall be deemed to have been executed by it if signed by an authorized officer or signatory of the Trustee, but it shall not be necessary that the same officer or signatory sign the certificate of authentication on all of the Bonds issued hereunder.

Section 3.04. Interchangeability. Bonds, upon surrender thereof at the principal office of the Trustee, with a written instrument of transfer satisfactory to the Trustee, duly executed by the registered owner or his attorney duly authorized in writing, may, at the option of the registered owner thereof, be exchanged for an equal aggregate principal amount or Original Principal Amount, as the case may be, of Bonds of the same Series, maturity and interest rate, subject to any provisions contained in the applicable Supplemental Indenture relating to the registration of a Series of Bonds pursuant to a Book Entry System.

Section 3.05. Negotiability and Registry. All the Bonds issued pursuant to this Indenture shall be negotiable as provided in Article 8 of the Uniform Commercial Code, as adopted by the State, subject to the provisions for registration and transfer contained in the Bonds and this Indenture and applicable State law. So long as any of the Bonds shall remain

Outstanding, the Trustee shall maintain and keep, for the benefit of the Agency, at the corporate trust operations office of the Trustee, books for the registration and transfer of Bonds which books shall be open to inspection by the Agency; and, upon presentation thereof for such purpose at said office, subject to any provisions in a Supplemental Indenture relating to the registration of a Series of Bonds pursuant to a Book Entry System, the Agency shall register or cause to be registered therein, and permit to be transferred thereon, under such reasonable requirements as it or the Trustee may prescribe, any Bond entitled to registration or transfer. So long as any of the Bonds remain Outstanding, the Agency shall make all necessary provisions to permit the exchange of Bonds at the corporate trust operations office of the Trustee, subject to any provisions contained in a Supplemental Indenture relating to the registration of a Series of Bonds pursuant to a Book Entry System.

Section 3.06. Transfer of Bonds. Subject to any provisions contained in a Supplemental Indenture relating to the registration of a Series of Bonds pursuant to a Book Entry System, each Bond shall be transferable only upon the books of the Agency kept for registration of transfers of Bonds, at the corporate trust operations office of the Trustee, by the registered owner thereof in person or by his attorney duly authorized in writing, upon surrender thereof together with a written instrument of transfer satisfactory to the Trustee duly executed by the registered owner or his duly authorized attorney. Upon the surrender for transfer of any such Bond, the Agency shall execute and the Trustee shall authenticate and deliver in the name of the transferee a new registered Bond or Bonds of the same Series, aggregate principal amount or Original Principal Amount, interest rate and maturity as the surrendered Bond.

The Agency, the Trustee and any Paying Agent may deem and treat the person in whose name any Outstanding Bond shall be registered upon the books of the Agency as the absolute owner of such Bond, whether such Bond shall be overdue or not, for the purpose of receiving payment of, or on account of, the principal, Appreciated Amount, premium, if any, of and interest on such Bond and for all other purposes, and all such payments so made to any such registered owner or upon his order shall be valid and effectual to satisfy and discharge the liability upon such Bond to the extent of the sum or sums so paid; neither the Agency, the Trustee nor any Paying Agent shall be affected by any notice to the contrary.

The transfer of Bonds of a particular Series may be further limited as provided in the Supplemental Indenture relating thereto.

Section 3.07. Regulations for Exchange and Transfer. Subject to any provisions contained in a Supplemental Indenture relating to the registration of a Series of Bonds pursuant to a Book Entry System and Section 3.06, in all cases in which the privilege of exchanging Bonds or transferring Bonds is exercised, the Agency shall execute and the Trustee shall authenticate and deliver Bonds in accordance with the provisions of this Indenture and the Supplemental Indenture under which any such Bond is issued. All Bonds surrendered in any such exchanges or transfers shall be cancelled by the Trustee. For every such exchange or transfer of Bonds, whether temporary or definitive, the Agency or, at the direction of the Agency, the Trustee may make a charge to the Bondholder sufficient to reimburse it for any tax, fee or other governmental charge required to be paid with respect to such exchange or transfer. Neither the Agency nor the Trustee shall be obligated to make any such exchange or transfer of

Bonds called for redemption or, in the case of any proposed redemption of Bonds, during the 15 days prior to the first mailing of notice calling such Bonds or portions thereof for redemption as herein provided.

Section 3.08. Bonds Mutilated, Destroyed, Stolen or Lost. In case any Bond shall become mutilated or be destroyed, stolen or lost, the Trustee shall authenticate and deliver, in accordance with the laws of the State, including, but not limited to, the Act, as amended from time to time, and, to the extent not inconsistent therewith, the provisions of this Section, a new Bond of like Series, maturity, interest rate and principal amount or Original Principal Amount, as the case may be, as the Bond, if any, so mutilated, destroyed, stolen or lost, provided, however, that in the case of any mutilated Bond, the mutilated Bond must first be surrendered to the Trustee, and in the case of any lost, stolen or destroyed Bond, there must be first furnished to the Agency and the Trustee evidence satisfactory to them of the ownership of the Bond, and of the loss, theft or destruction, together with indemnity satisfactory to the Agency and the Trustee and compliance with such other reasonable requirements as the Agency and the Trustee may prescribe and paying such expenses as the Agency or the Trustee may incur in connection therewith. All Bonds so surrendered to the Trustee shall be cancelled by it.

Upon the issuance of any new Bond under this Section, the Agency or, at the direction of the Agency, the Trustee may require the payment of a sum sufficient to cover any tax, fee or other governmental charge that may be imposed in relation thereto and any other expenses, including counsel fees, of the Agency, any Paying Agent or the Trustee connected therewith.

Section 3.09. Preparation of Definitive Bonds; Temporary Bonds. definitive Bonds of any Series are prepared, there may be executed, and, upon request of an Authorized Officer, the Trustee shall authenticate and deliver, in lieu of definitive Bonds, but subject to the same provisions, limitations and conditions as the definitive Bonds, except as to the denominations thereof, one or more temporary Bonds, substantially of the tenor of the definitive Bonds in lieu of which such temporary Bond or Bonds are issued, in any authorized denominations, and with such omissions, insertions and variations as may be appropriate to temporary Bonds. The Agency shall cause to be prepared and to be executed and delivered to the Trustee, upon the surrender of such temporary Bonds deliver in exchange therefor, at the corporate trust operations office of the Trustee, definitive registered Bonds, of the same Series, aggregate principal amount or Original Principal Amount, as the case may be, interest rate and maturity as the temporary Bonds surrendered. Until so exchanged, the temporary Bonds shall in all respects be entitled to the same benefits and security as definitive Bonds issued and authenticated pursuant to this Indenture. All temporary Bonds surrendered in exchange for a definitive Bond or Bonds shall be forthwith cancelled by the Trustee. No charge for taxes or governmental charges shall be made against the owner upon an exchange of a temporary Bond for a definitive Bond.

Section 3.10. Extension of Payment of Bonds. The Agency shall not directly or indirectly extend or assent to the extension of the maturity of any of the Bonds, or the time of payment of any claims for interest by the purchase or funding of such Bonds or claims for interest, or by any other arrangement; in case the maturity of any of the Bonds or the time for payment of any such claims for interest shall be extended, such Bonds, or claims for interest

shall not be entitled, in case of any default under this Indenture, to the benefit of this Indenture or the Funds or Accounts (except funds held in trust for the payment of particular Bonds) held by the Trustee or any Paying Agent, except after the payment of the principal of all Bonds issued and Outstanding the maturity of which has occurred and has not been extended and of such portion of the accrued interest on the Bonds as shall not be represented by such extended claims for interest. Nothing herein shall be deemed to limit the right of the Agency to enter into agreements with particular Bondholders as provided in Section 9.04 hereof or to issue refunding Bonds as provided in Article II hereof, and such issuance shall not be deemed to constitute an extension of the maturity of any Bond or of the time of payment of any claim for interest.

Section 3.11. Money Held for Particular Bonds. The amounts held for the payment of the interest, principal, Appreciated Amount or premium, if any, due on any date with respect to particular Bonds shall be held by the Paying Agent and shall, pending such payment, be held in trust by it for the owners of the Bonds entitled thereto and the Paying Agent shall maintain adequate records for the purpose of segregating the funds, and for the purposes of this Indenture, such interest, principal or premium, after the due date thereof, shall no longer be considered to be unpaid. The Trustee shall notify the Agency of any moneys so held for the payment of interest or principal or premium due with respect to particular Bonds which remain in the custody of the Trustee or Paying Agent on the date which is two years after the date on which such Bonds matured or were redeemed (or 90 days prior to the day such moneys would, under the laws of the State, escheat or be required to be paid to the State, if either of such dates is earlier) and, upon a written request from the Agency, shall return such funds to the State upon such request, and the owners of such Bonds shall thereafter look only to the State for payment and then only to the extent of the funds so received from the Trustee without any interest thereon.

Section 3.12. Cancellation of Bonds. All Bonds purchased, redeemed or paid shall be cancelled upon the purchase, redemption or payment of such Bonds. No such Bonds shall be deemed Outstanding under this Indenture and no Bonds shall be issued in lieu thereof. All such Bonds cancelled under any of the provisions of this Indenture shall be destroyed in accordance with the Act, as amended, or the applicable laws of the State, and notice thereof delivered to the Agency upon request.

Section 3.13. Book-entry Form of Bonds. Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, the Agency may elect, in the related Supplemental Indenture, that Bonds for a particular Series be registered pursuant to a Book Entry System, without certificates being provided or available to the registered owner thereof.

ARTICLE IV

REDEMPTION OF BONDS

Section 4.01. Procedure and Prices. Bonds of a Series redeemable prior to maturity pursuant to a Supplemental Indenture shall be subject to redemption upon notice as provided in this Article, at such times, at such redemption prices and upon such terms in addition to the

terms contained in this Article IV as may be specified in the Supplemental Indenture authorizing such Series.

Section 4.02. Redemption at the Election or Direction of Agency. In the case of any redemption of Bonds at the election or direction of the Agency, the Agency shall give written notice to the Trustee of its election or direction so to redeem, of the redemption date, of the Series, and of the principal amounts of the Bonds of each maturity of such Series to be redeemed, which Series maturities and principal amounts thereof to be redeemed shall be determined by the Agency in its sole discretion, subject to any limitations with respect thereto contained in the applicable Supplemental Indenture or in this Indenture. Such notice shall be given at least 30 days but no more than 60 days prior to the redemption date or such shorter period as shall be acceptable to the Trustee or contained in the applicable Supplemental Indenture. In the event notice of redemption shall have been given as provided in Section 4.05 (except for a conditional notice as authorized by the last paragraph thereof), there shall be paid on or prior to the redemption date (but not necessarily prior to the date on which notice of redemption shall have been given as provided in Section 4.05) to the appropriate Paying Agents, an amount in cash which, in addition to other moneys, if any, available therefor held by such Paying Agents, will be sufficient to redeem on the redemption date at the redemption price thereof, plus interest accrued and unpaid to the redemption date, all of the Bonds to be redeemed. The Agency shall promptly notify the Trustee in writing of all such payments by it to a Paying Agent.

Section 4.03. Redemption Otherwise Than at Agency's Election or Direction. Whenever, by the terms of this Indenture and pursuant to a Supplemental Indenture, the Trustee is required or authorized to redeem Bonds other than at the election or direction of the Agency, the Trustee shall select the Bonds to be redeemed, give the notice of redemption and pay out of moneys available therefor (or pay to any Paying Agent, if applicable) the redemption price thereof, plus interest accrued and unpaid to the redemption date, to the appropriate Paying Agents in accordance with the terms of this Article IV and the terms of the applicable Supplemental Indenture.

Section 4.04. Selection of Bonds To Be Redeemed. In the event of redemption of less than all of the Outstanding Bonds of like Series, interest rate and maturity, the Bonds to be redeemed in part shall be selected pursuant to the written notice described in Section 4.02 hereof, or if not so provided, randomly in such manner as the Trustee in its discretion deems fair, unless otherwise specified in the Supplemental Indenture authorizing such Series of Bonds.

Section 4.05. Notice of Redemption. This Section shall govern the provision of notice of redemption *unless* otherwise provided in a Supplemental Indenture, provided, however, that if any terms set forth in this Section or in any Supplemental Indenture are inconsistent with the laws of the State, including, but not limited to, the Act, as amended from time to time, the laws of the State shall govern, and provided that the Trustee shall not be responsible for and shall be held harmless for any failure to comply with laws of the State that are inconsistent with this Indenture or any Supplemental Indenture unless the Agency shall have provided the Trustee with written notice of such laws. When the Trustee shall be required or authorized to redeem Bonds, the Trustee shall, in accordance with the terms and provisions of the Bonds and of this Indenture,

give notice (which notice shall be dated the date given) of the redemption of Bonds, which notice shall specify (a) the name of the Bonds, (b) the Series, (c) the date of issue, (d) the redemption price, (e) the maturities, interest rates and CUSIP numbers of the Bonds to be redeemed, (f) the redemption date and the place or places where amounts due upon such redemption will be payable (including name and address of the Trustee or redemption agent, with contact person and telephone number), (g) if less than all of the Bonds of any like Series and maturity are to be redeemed, the letters and numbers or other distinguishing marks of such Bonds so to be redeemed (i.e., certificate numbers), (h) in the case of a Bond to be redeemed in part only, such notice shall also specify the portion of the principal amount or Original Principal Amount, as the case may be, thereof to be redeemed and (i) such other information as may be specified in a Supplemental Indenture with respect to a particular Series of Bonds. Such notice shall further state that, except as otherwise provided in the last paragraph of this Section, on the Redemption Date there shall become due and payable upon each Bond to be redeemed the redemption price thereof, or the redemption price of the specified portion of the principal amount thereof in the case of a Bond to be redeemed in part only, with interest accrued and unpaid to such date, and that from and after such date, interest thereon shall cease to accrue and be payable. Such notice shall be given by mailing a copy of such notice, first-class mail, postage prepaid, at least 30 days but no more than 60 days prior to such Redemption Date, to the registered owner of any Bond, all or a portion of which is to be redeemed, at his last address, if any, appearing upon the registry books, but failure so to mail any such notice or any defect in such notice shall not be a condition precedent to or affect the validity of any proceedings for the redemption of other Bonds.

In addition, the Trustee will send (no more than 60 days after the date for redemption) a further notice of redemption to each registered owner who has not presented his or her Bond for redemption within 30 days subsequent to the Redemption Date. Each such notice will be sent by first-class mail, postage prepaid.

Any notice of redemption pursuant to this Section may, if directed by the Agency, be given specifying that the redemption of the Bonds so called for redemption is made conditional upon the deposit of sufficient amounts to pay the redemption price therefor on the Redemption Date and, if amounts are not so available, such notice of redemption shall be cancelled and be null and void and the Bonds so called for redemption and subject to such conditional redemption notice shall continue to remain Outstanding.

Section 4.06. Payment and Cancellation of Bonds Redeemed and Purchased. Notice having been given in the manner provided in Section 4.05, the Bonds or portions thereof called for redemption and specified in said notice shall, except as provided in Section 4.05, become due and payable on the Redemption Date specified in said notice at the redemption prices thereof applicable on such date, plus unpaid interest on said Bonds or portions thereof accrued to such date, and upon presentation and surrender thereof at the place or places specified in said notice, said Bonds or portions thereof shall be paid at the said redemption prices, plus unpaid interest on said Bonds or portions thereof accrued to such date. CUSIP number identification with appropriate dollar amounts for each CUSIP number shall accompany all redemption payments and interest payments, whether by check or by wire transfer. If there shall be so called for redemption less than all of a Bond, the Agency shall execute and the Trustee shall authenticate

and deliver, upon the surrender of such Bond to the Trustee, without charge to the owner thereof, for the unredeemed balance of the principal amount or Original Principal Amount of the Bond so surrendered, Bonds of like Series, designation, interest rate and maturity. If, on such redemption date, money for the redemption of all the Bonds or portions thereof of any like Series and maturity to be redeemed, together with interest thereon accrued and unpaid to such date, shall be held by or on behalf of the Trustee so as to be available therefor on such date, and if notice of redemption thereof shall have been given as aforesaid, then from and after such redemption date, interest on the Bonds or portions thereof of such maturity so called for redemption shall cease to accrue and become payable, and said Bonds or portions of Bonds shall no longer be considered Outstanding hereunder.

Section 4.07. Redeemed Bonds as Satisfaction of Sinking Fund Installments. Upon any purchase or redemption of Bonds of any Series and maturity for which Sinking Fund Installments shall have been established pursuant to a Supplemental Indenture (other than by application of Sinking Fund Installments), an amount equal to the applicable redemption prices thereof (as specified in a Supplemental Indenture) shall be credited toward a part of all or any one or more of such Sinking Fund Installments, as directed by the Agency in a Certificate delivered to the Trustee by the fortieth day preceding the next date a Sinking Fund Installment is due or as directed in a Supplemental Indenture, or, failing any such direction, toward such Sinking Fund Installments on a proportionate basis. Such applicable redemption prices shall be the respective redemption prices which would be applicable upon the redemption of such Bonds from the respective Sinking Fund Installments on the due dates thereof. The portion of any such Sinking Fund Installment remaining after the deduction of any such amounts credited toward the same (or the original amount of any such Sinking Fund Installment if no such amounts shall have been credited toward the same) shall constitute the unsatisfied balance of such Sinking Fund Installment for the purpose of the calculation of principal installments due on a future date.

Section 4.08. Purchase of Bonds; Tenders. Unless expressly provided otherwise herein, if at any time moneys are held in any Fund or Account hereunder or in a Supplemental Indenture to be used to redeem Bonds, in lieu of such redemption the Agency may direct the Trustee to use part or all of such moneys to purchase Bonds of the respective Series, interest rates and maturities that would otherwise be subject to redemption from such moneys. The purchase price of such Bonds shall not exceed the applicable redemption price of the Bonds which would be redeemed but for the operation of this Section (accrued interest to be paid from the same Fund or Account from which accrued interest would be paid upon the redemption of such Bonds); provided, however, that the purchase price of such Bonds may include a premium if the payment thereof does not adversely affect the Rating of the Bonds. Any such purchase must be completed prior to the time notice would otherwise be required to be given to redeem the related Bonds. All Bonds so purchased shall be cancelled by the Trustee and applied as a credit against the obligation to redeem such Bonds from such moneys. Savings resulting from the purchase of Bonds at less than their respective redemption prices shall be used to purchase or redeem additional Bonds to the extent permitted by the provisions hereof and the relevant Supplemental Indenture or, at the request of the Agency, and upon receipt of a Counsel's Opinion that such action will not adversely affect the tax-exempt status of interest on the tax-exempt Bonds, withdrawn and paid to the Agency free and clear of the lien of this Indenture.

The Agency may direct the Trustee, on behalf of the Agency, to request the submission of tenders following notice requesting such submission prior to making the purchases authorized pursuant to the preceding paragraph. The Agency may specify the maximum and minimum periods of time which shall transpire between the date upon which such notice is to be given and the date upon which such tenders are to be accepted. No tenders shall be considered or accepted at any price exceeding the price specified in the preceding paragraph for the purchase of Bonds. The Agency shall accept bids with the lowest price and in the event the moneys available for purchase pursuant to such tenders are not sufficient to permit acceptance of all tenders and if there shall be tenders at an equal price above the amount of moneys available for purchase, then the Agency shall select randomly, or in such manner as it shall determine in its discretion, the Bonds tendered which shall be purchased.

ARTICLE V

ESTABLISHMENT OF FUNDS AND ACCOUNTS AND APPLICATION THEREOF

Section 5.01. Establishment of Funds and Accounts and Application of Bond Proceeds.

- (a) The following special Funds shall be held by the Trustee or by a Fiduciary, in segregated accounts, in the name of the Trustee to account for funds to be deposited therein pursuant to the terms hereof or of any Supplemental Indenture or as directed by a Certificate:
 - (i) a Program Fund;
 - (ii) a Revenue Fund:
 - (iii) a Debt Service Fund;
 - (iv) a Reserve Fund;
 - (v) a Special Program Fund; and
 - (vi) a Rebate Fund.

The designation of each such Fund set forth above shall include the term "Vermont Housing Finance Agency, Multiple Purpose Bonds," which term shall precede the designation as set forth above.

No amounts may be withdrawn, transferred or paid out of any of the above Funds except as provided in this Article or in a Supplemental Indenture.

(b) The Trustee shall also establish such other special funds, accounts or subaccounts as the Agency may direct pursuant to any Supplemental Indenture or any Certificate, including but not limited to a capitalized interest account, and moneys deposited therein shall be used and pledged only as provided in such Supplemental

Indenture or Certificate. Each such fund, account and subaccount shall be held by the Trustee, in trust, separate and apart from all other funds of the Agency, for the purposes provided in this Indenture and any Supplemental Indenture.

- (c) Unless otherwise provided in a Supplemental Indenture or a Certificate, the Trustee shall establish in each Fund a separate Account for each Series of Bonds. Except as otherwise provided, the proceeds of a particular Series of Bonds issued pursuant to a Supplemental Indenture and the earnings on investments of moneys in the Funds or Accounts relating to a particular Series of Bonds, when required to be deposited in any Fund, shall be deposited or credited to the Account established therein for that particular Series of Bonds. Withdrawals from Funds and Accounts in connection with a particular Series of Bonds may be made and used (including for purposes of redemption) for such Series of Bonds as well as any other Series of Bonds unless specifically prohibited in a related Supplemental Indenture. For purposes of investment, the Trustee and the Agency may consolidate the Accounts required to be established in a particular Fund into one Fund so long as adequate records are maintained as to the amounts held in each such Fund allocable to each Series of Bonds.
- (d) The proceeds from any Series of Bonds shall be deposited in the Funds and Accounts established under this Indenture in accordance with the terms of this Article V and of the Supplemental Indenture authorizing such Series of Bonds. The Trustee shall also deposit in the Funds and Accounts established under this Indenture such other moneys or assets of the Agency as the Agency may direct by a Certificate.

Section 5.02. Program Fund.

- (a) At the direction of an Authorized Officer, the Trustee shall from time to time pay out, or permit the withdrawal of, money from the Program Fund, for any purpose set forth in a Supplemental Indenture.
- (b) The Trustee shall, to the extent amounts are insufficient in the Revenue Fund to pay principal of or interest on the Bonds or any Sinking Fund Installment when due, transfer (after transferring amounts in any capitalized interest account established in connection with a Supplemental Indenture, the Special Program Fund and the Reserve Fund) moneys from the Program Fund (to the extent of amounts available therein) to the Revenue Fund to pay principal of or interest on the Bonds and any Sinking Fund Installments.
- (c) Any investment earnings on moneys held in the Program Fund shall be credited to and retained in the Revenue Fund upon receipt unless directed by a Certificate to be transferred or credited by the Trustee to another Fund or Account or to the Agency upon receipt.
- (d) Amounts or assets credited to the Program Fund may, upon the direction of an Authorized Officer, be transferred or credited by the Trustee to the Revenue Fund or another Fund or Account or to the Agency at such times as directed by such Authorized Officer.

Section 5.03. Revenue Fund.

- (a) All moneys and amounts pledged hereunder shall, promptly upon receipt by the Agency, be deposited in the Revenue Fund. Such amounts which have been received by persons collecting them on behalf of the Agency but have not yet been paid over directly to the Agency by such persons shall not be required to be so deposited until so paid over; provided, however, that such amounts shall be deemed to have been received by the Agency for purposes of Section 1.02 hereof.
- (b) On or before each Interest Payment Date for the Outstanding Bonds, or on such other dates as may be directed in any Supplemental Indenture, the Trustee shall apply the balance on deposit in the Revenue Fund as follows and in the following order of priority (provided that if the Agency by Supplemental Indenture shall have created one or more additional funds and accounts or subaccounts within Funds and Accounts in accordance with Section 5.01(b) hereof, the Agency may by Supplemental Indenture modify the priority set forth in this subsection after satisfaction of the requirements of clauses (i) and (ii) of this subsection);
 - (i) To the Debt Service Fund, an amount equal to the unpaid interest due on the Bonds on that date, and on any redemption date or purchase date pursuant to Section 4.08 hereof, an amount equal to the unpaid interest due on the Bonds to be paid, redeemed or purchased, and any amounts required to be paid to the Provider of a Qualified Hedge Agreement (other than fees or termination payments payable to such Provider of the Qualified Hedge Agreement) equivalent to interest;
 - (ii) To the Debt Service Fund, (A) an amount equal to the principal amount of the Outstanding Bonds, if any, due (whether by maturity, redemption or otherwise) on that date, and any amounts required to be paid to the Provider of a Qualified Hedge Agreement (other than fees or termination payments payable to such Provider of the Qualified Hedge Agreement) equivalent to principal, if any, and (B) an amount equal to the Sinking Fund Installment, if any, due on that date; and
 - (iii) To the Reserve Fund, if and to the extent required so that the amount therein shall equal the Reserve Requirement.
- (c) Any investment earnings on moneys held in the Revenue Fund shall remain in the Revenue Fund, unless directed by a Certificate to be transferred or credited by the Trustee to another Fund or Account or to the Agency.
- (d) Amounts or assets in the Revenue Fund may, on and after each Interest Payment Date upon the direction of an Authorized Officer, be transferred or credited by the Trustee to another Fund or Account or to the Agency at such times as directed by such Authorized Officer.

- The Trustee shall, to the extent the amount in the Revenue Fund and the Debt Service Fund is insufficient to pay principal of or interest on the Bonds or amounts owed to a Provider under a Hedge Agreement equivalent to principal and interest (other than fees or termination payments, except as otherwise provided in Section 1.04) or any Sinking Fund Installment when due, transfer the amount of such deficiency from the following funds in the following order: (i) any amounts in any capitalized interest account established pursuant to a Supplemental Indenture, (ii) the Special Program Fund, if any, to the extent of amounts available therein and therefor, (iii) the Reserve Fund, to the extent of amounts available therein, and (iv) the Program Fund, to the extent of amounts available therein and therefor. In the event that the amount in such funds is insufficient, the Trustee shall immediately provide written notice thereof to the Agency, and the Agency shall transfer, or cause to be transferred, to the Trustee for deposit to the Revenue Fund an amount sufficient and available, when added to amounts in the Debt Service Fund, to pay principal of or interest on the Bonds or amounts owed to a Provider under a Hedge Agreement equivalent to principal and interest (other than fees or termination payment, except as otherwise provided in Section 1.04) or any Sinking Fund Installment when due.
- (f) Fees and termination payments payable to the Provider under a Hedge Agreement shall be payable in accordance with Section 1.04 hereof.
- (g) As long as no Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing, the Trustee shall be entitled to rely on a certificate of an Authorized Officer as to the proper amounts to be deposited in the various Funds and Accounts as required by this Section. The Agency agrees to furnish the Trustee with such a certificate prior to each time the Trustee is required or directed to allocate amounts from the Revenue Fund. Such certificate shall identify separately all amounts so to be allocated as may be required by any applicable Supplemental Indenture, setting forth the Series of Bonds to which such amounts are attributable. The Trustee shall retain copies of such certificates while any of such Bonds remain Outstanding and shall also maintain appropriate records of the interest and other income earned on investment or deposit of all such amounts while held hereunder in any Fund or Account identifying the Series of Bonds to which such interest and other income is attributable.
- (h) Notwithstanding anything in this Section to the contrary, so long as there shall be held in the Debt Service Fund an amount sufficient to fully pay all Outstanding Bonds in accordance with their terms (including Principal Amount or Redemption Price and interest) and all amounts due the Provider of a Qualified Hedge Agreement pursuant to subsection (b) above, no deposits shall be required to be made into the Debt Service Fund.

Section 5.04. Debt Service Deposits. On or before the fifth Business Day preceding each Interest Payment Date and any other date on which principal of or interest on or any Sinking Fund Installment with respect to the Bonds is due, if the Trustee does not have on deposit in the Revenue Account and the Debt Service Fund an amount sufficient and available to pay the interest, principal or Sinking Fund Installment due on such Interest Payment Date or

other date, the Trustee shall give the Agency notice of the amount so on deposit and the amount of the insufficiency; provided, however, that the failure by the Trustee to give such notice shall not relieve the Agency of the obligation to make or cause the transfers required in the immediately succeeding paragraph. Upon receipt of such notice, on or before the third Business Day preceding each Interest Payment Date and any other date on which principal of or interest on or any Sinking Fund Installment with respect to the Bonds is due, the Agency shall transfer, or cause to be transferred, to the Trustee for deposit to the Revenue Fund an amount sufficient and available to pay the interest, principal or Sinking Fund Installment due on such Interest Payment Date or other date for application as provided in Section 5.03 hereof.

Section 5.05. Debt Service Fund.

- (a) On each Interest Payment Date and any other date on which interest on the Bonds is payable, the Trustee shall withdraw from the Debt Service Fund an amount equal to the unpaid interest due on the Bonds on that date, and on any redemption date or purchase date pursuant to Section 4.08 hereof, an amount equal to the unpaid interest due on the Bonds to be paid, redeemed or purchased, and any amounts required to be paid to the Provider of a Qualified Hedge Agreement (other than fees or termination payments payable to such Provider of the Qualified Hedge Agreement) equivalent to interest and shall cause it to be applied to the payment of said interest or amount when due, or shall transmit it to one or more Paying Agents, who shall apply it to such payment.
- (b) The Trustee shall withdraw from the Debt Service Fund on each date on which principal of the Bonds is payable (i) an amount equal to the principal amount of the Outstanding Bonds, if any, due (whether by maturity, redemption or otherwise) on that date, and any amounts required to be paid to the Provider of a Qualified Hedge Agreement (other than fees or termination payments payable to such Provider of the Qualified Hedge Agreement) equivalent to principal, if any, which shall be applied to the payment or purchase of the principal of said Bonds or amount when due or transmitted to one or more Paying Agents who shall apply it to such payment and (ii) an amount equal to the Sinking Fund Installment, if any, due on that date, which shall be applied to the redemption of Bonds to be redeemed on that date or transmitted to one or more Paying Agents who shall apply it to such redemption.
- (c) Unless other dates are specified in the Supplemental Indenture authorizing a Series of Bonds, on or before the thirty-first day prior to each such date on which a Sinking Fund Installment is due, the Trustee shall proceed to select for redemption in the manner provided in this Section from all Outstanding Bonds of the Series subject to redemption from such Sinking Fund Installment an amount of such Bonds, equal to the aggregate principal amount of such Bonds redeemable with such Sinking Fund Installment, and shall call such Bonds for redemption from such Sinking Fund Installment on the next succeeding date for redemption, and give notice of such call in accordance with this Indenture. On or before the fortieth day next preceding any date on which a Sinking Fund Installment is due, the Agency, by a Certificate, may (i) deliver to the Trustee for cancellation Bonds which are subject to redemption from such Sinking Fund Installment, or portions thereof, in any aggregate principal amount desired or

- (ii) receive a credit in respect of its Sinking Fund Installment obligation for any such Bonds, which prior to said date have been delivered to the Trustee for cancellation or redeemed (otherwise than through redemption from a Sinking Fund Installment) and canceled by the Trustee and not theretofore applied as a credit against any Sinking Fund Installment obligation. Each Bond or portion thereof so delivered or previously redeemed shall be credited by the Trustee at the principal amount thereof on the obligation with respect to such Sinking Fund Installments as the Certificate shall direct and the principal amount of such Bonds to be redeemed by such Sinking Fund Installment shall be accordingly reduced.
- (d) Any investment earnings on moneys held in the Debt Service Fund shall be transferred to the Revenue Fund, unless directed by a Certificate to be transferred or credited by the Trustee to another Fund or Account or to the Agency.
- (e) Amounts or assets in the Debt Service Fund may, on and after each Interest Payment Date upon the direction of an Authorized Officer, be transferred or credited by the Trustee to another Fund or Account or to the Agency at such times as directed by such Authorized Officer.

Section 5.06. Reserve Fund.

- (a) There shall be maintained in the Reserve Fund, from the proceeds of the sale of the Bonds or such other sources as specified by a direction of an Authorized Officer, an amount equal to the Reserve Requirement.
- The Trustee shall, to the extent the amount in the Revenue Fund is insufficient to pay principal of and interest on the Bonds and any Sinking Fund Installments and any amounts required to be paid to the Provider of a Hedge Agreement (other than fees or termination payments payable to such Provider) unless otherwise provided in such Hedge Agreement or any related Supplemental Indenture, transfer from the Reserve Fund (after transferring any amounts in any capitalized interest account established pursuant to a Supplemental Indenture or the Special Program Fund (to the extent of amounts available therein and therefor)) to the Revenue Fund to pay the principal of and interest on the Bonds and any Sinking Fund Installments and any amounts required to be paid to the Provider of a Hedge Agreement (other than fees or termination payments payable to such Provider) unless otherwise provided in such Hedge Agreement or any related Supplemental Indenture. The Trustee shall notify the Agency in writing prior to any such withdrawal from the Reserve Fund. Within six months of any such withdrawal, the Agency shall, if permitted under the Act or applicable laws of the State, deposit in the Reserve Fund an amount sufficient to replenish the Reserve Fund to the Reserve Requirement.
- (c) So long as any such credit or transfer does not reduce the amount in the Reserve Fund below the Reserve Requirement, any investment earnings on moneys held in the Reserve Fund shall be credited to the Revenue Fund, unless directed by a Certificate to be transferred or credited by the Trustee to another Fund or Account or to the Agency at such times as directed by such Authorized Officer.

- (d) Any balance in the Reserve Fund in excess of the Reserve Requirement shall, upon the direction of a Certificate, be transferred or credited by the Trustee to the Revenue Fund or other Fund or Account or to the Agency at such times as directed by such Authorized Officer.
- (e) The Reserve Requirement with respect to the applicable Series of Bonds may be funded through Cash Equivalents. In connection with any discussion in this Indenture of "moneys" on deposit in or held for the credit of the Reserve Fund, "moneys" shall be deemed to include said Cash Equivalents.

Section 5.07. Rebate Fund.

- (a) There shall be deposited in the Rebate Fund, as directed by a Certificate of an Authorized Officer, such amounts determined by the Agency as are necessary to satisfy any "arbitrage rebate requirements" to comply with the requirements of Section 148 of the Code.
- (b) Payments shall be made from the Rebate Fund, as directed by a Certificate of an Authorized Officer, at such times and in such amounts as are necessary to comply with the requirements of Section 148 of the Code.
- (c) Any investment earnings on moneys held in the Rebate Fund shall remain in the Rebate Fund, unless directed by a Certificate to be transferred or credited by the Trustee to another Fund or Account or to the Agency.

Section 5.08. Special Program Fund.

- (a) If and to the extent directed by a Certificate of an Authorized Officer, the Trustee shall create the Special Program Fund, or accounts therein, and from time to time (i) pay out money from the Special Program Fund for any purpose permitted under the Act and (ii) transfer funds to the Agency free and clear of the lien of this Indenture.
- (b) The Trustee shall, to the extent the amount in the Revenue Fund is insufficient to pay the principal of and interest on the Bonds and any Sinking Fund Installment when due and any amounts required to be paid to the Provider of a Hedge Agreement (other than fees or termination payments payable to such Provider) unless otherwise provided in such Hedge Agreement or any related Supplemental Indenture, transfer (after transferring amounts in any capitalized interest account established in connection with a Supplemental Indenture) moneys from the Special Program Fund, to the extent of amounts therein which are not otherwise restricted for specific purposes, to the Revenue Fund to pay the principal of and interest on the Bonds and any Sinking Fund Installment and any amounts required to be paid to the Provider of a Hedge Agreement (other than fees or termination payments payable to such Provider) unless otherwise provided in such Hedge Agreement or any related Supplemental Indenture.

(c) Any investment earnings on moneys held in the Special Program Fund shall remain in the Special Program Fund, unless directed by a Certificate to be transferred or credited by the Trustee to another Fund or Account or to the Agency.

ARTICLE VI

COVENANTS

Section 6.01. General. The Agency hereby particularly covenants and agrees with the Trustee and with the holders of the Bonds of each Series and makes provisions which shall be a part of its contract with such holders, to the effect and with the purpose set forth in the following provisions and Sections of this Article. The provisions of this Article shall be effective from and after the time of the delivery of the Bonds of each Series issued under this Indenture.

Section 6.02. Payment of Bonds. The Agency shall duly and punctually pay or cause to be paid (from the Trust Estate and any other of the Agency's revenues, assets or moneys, subject only to agreements now or hereafter made with holders of notes and bonds, other than the Bonds, pledging particular revenues, moneys or assets for the payment thereof) the principal amount of and interest on the Bonds, at the dates and places and in the manner mentioned in the Bonds, according to the true intent and meaning thereof, and shall duly and punctually pay or cause to be paid (from the Trust Estate and any of the Agency's other revenues, assets or moneys, subject only to agreements now or hereafter made with holders of notes and bonds, other than the Bonds, pledging particular revenues, moneys or assets for the payment thereof) to the Trustee any part of any and all Sinking Fund Installments required pursuant to any provision of this Indenture and the related Supplemental Indentures.

Section 6.03. Personnel and Servicing of Programs. In accordance with the laws of the State and the Act, the Agency shall at all times appoint, retain and employ competent personnel for the purpose of carrying out its respective programs and shall establish and enforce reasonable rules, regulations, tests and standards governing the employment of such personnel at reasonable compensation, salaries, fees and charges, and all persons employed by the Agency shall be qualified for their respective positions.

Section 6.04. Tax Covenants.

- (a) Subject to subsection (b) of this Section, the Agency shall at all times do and perform all acts and things necessary and may otherwise act as permitted by law in order to assure that interest paid on the Bonds shall, for the purposes of federal income taxation, be excludable from the gross income of the owners thereof and exempt from such taxation, except in the event that such recipient is a "substantial user" or "related person" within the meaning of the Code.
- (b) Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Agency hereby reserves the right to elect to issue Bonds the interest on which is not exempt from federal income taxation, if such election is made prior to the issuance of such Bonds and, to the extent applicable, the requirements of the Act or similar law in effect are satisfied with respect to such election and the covenants contained in this Section shall not apply to such Bonds.

Section 6.05. Accounts and Reports. The Agency shall keep, or cause to be kept, proper books of record and account in which complete and accurate entries shall be made of all its transactions relating to the Bonds and all Funds and Accounts established by or pursuant to this Indenture or any Supplemental Indenture, which shall at all reasonable times be subject to the inspection of the Trustee or of the holders (or beneficial owners if their names and addresses have been filed with the Trustee for such purposes) of an aggregate of not less than 5% in principal amount of Bonds then Outstanding or their representatives duly authorized in writing.

The Agency shall annually, within 270 days after the close of each Fiscal Year, prepare financial statements for such Fiscal Year. The financial statements shall be accompanied by the report of an Accountant stating that the financial statements examined present fairly the financial position of the Agency at the end of the Fiscal Year, the results of its operations and changes in financial position for the period examined, in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles, with such exceptions as may be noted in such report.

Any such financial statements may be presented with respect to the accounts for the Bonds or on a consolidated or combined basis with other reports of the Agency.

A copy of such financials and any Accountant's report relating thereto shall be mailed promptly thereafter by the Agency to each Bondowner who shall have filed his name and address with the Agency for such purposes.

Section 6.06. Compliance With Conditions Precedent. Upon the date of execution and delivery of a Series of Bonds, all conditions, acts and things required by law or by this Indenture to exist, to have happened or to have been performed precedent to or in the issuance of such Bonds shall exist, have happened and have been performed, and such Bonds, together with all other indebtedness of the Agency, shall be within every debt and other limit prescribed by law.

Section 6.07. Further Assurance. At any and all times, the Agency shall, so far as it may be authorized by law, pass, make, do, execute, acknowledge and deliver, all such further resolutions, acts, deeds, conveyances, assignments, transfers and assurances as may be necessary and may otherwise act as permitted by law for the better assuring, conveying, granting, assigning or confirming all and singular the rights, Funds and Accounts and assets pledged, assigned and established pursuant to this Indenture, including the moneys, securities and Permitted Investments hereby pledged or assigned, or assigned in trust, or intended so to be, or which the Agency may hereafter become bound to pledge or assign in trust.

Section 6.08. Powers as to Bonds and Pledge. The Agency is duly authorized, pursuant to law, to authorize and issue Bonds, to enter into this Indenture and to pledge the assets and revenues purported to be pledged by this Indenture, in the manner and to the extent provided in this Indenture and in any Supplemental Indenture. The assets and revenues so pledged and so held in trust are and will be free and clear of any pledge, lien, charge or encumbrance thereon or with respect thereto prior to, or of equal rank with, the pledge and assignment in trust created by this Indenture, and all corporate action on the part of the Agency to that end has been duly and validly taken. Each Series of Bonds and the provisions of this Indenture are and will be the valid and legally enforceable general obligations of the Agency in

accordance with their terms and the terms of this Indenture and the related Supplemental Indenture subject only to agreements now or hereafter made with holders of notes and bonds, other than the Bonds pledging particular revenues, moneys or assets for the payment thereof. The Agency shall at all times, to the extent permitted by law, defend, preserve and protect the pledge of the assets and revenues so pledged under this Indenture and all the rights of the Bondholders or any other creditors secured under this Indenture, against all claims and demands of all persons whomsoever.

ARTICLE VII

DISCHARGE OF LIEN

If the Agency shall pay or cause to be paid, or there shall otherwise be paid or provision for payment made, to the holders of the Bonds the principal amount of, premium, if any, and interest due or to become due thereon at the times and in the manner stipulated therein, then unless there shall be delivered to the Trustee a Certificate to the contrary, these presents and the estate and rights hereby granted shall cease, determine and be void, whereupon the Trustee shall cancel and discharge the lien of this Indenture, and execute and deliver to the Agency such instruments in writing as shall be requisite to release the lien hereof, and reconvey, release, assign and deliver unto the Agency any and all the estate, right, title and interest in and to any and all rights or property assigned or pledged to the Trustee or otherwise subject to the lien of this Indenture, except cash held by the Trustee or any Paying Agent for the payment of the principal amount of, premium, if any, and interest on any Series of Bonds.

Any Bond shall be deemed to be paid within the meaning of this Article and for all purposes of this Indenture and any Supplemental Indenture when payment of the principal amount of and premium, if any, on such Bond, plus interest thereon to the due date thereof (whether such due date is by reason of maturity or upon redemption as provided herein), either (a) shall have been made or caused to be made in accordance with the terms thereof or (b) shall have been provided by irrevocably depositing with the Trustee, in trust and irrevocably set aside exclusively for such payment (i) moneys sufficient to make such payment and/or (ii) Federal Obligations (which may be subject to redemption prior to maturity only if such terms of redemption do not adversely affect the Rating of the Bonds) maturing as to principal and interest in such amount and at such time as will ensure the availability of sufficient moneys to make such payment. At such times as a Bond shall be deemed to be paid hereunder, as aforesaid, it shall no longer be secured by or entitled to the benefits of this Indenture, except for the purposes of any such payment from such moneys or Federal Obligations.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, in the case of Bonds which by their terms may be redeemed prior to their stated maturity, no deposit under the immediately preceding paragraph shall be deemed a payment of such Bonds as aforesaid until the Agency shall have given the Trustee, in form satisfactory to the Trustee, irrevocable instruction:

(i) stating the date when the principal amount (and premium, if any) of each such Bond is to be paid, whether at maturity or on a redemption date;

- (ii) to call for redemption pursuant to this Indenture (and at such times as notice thereof may be given in accordance with this Indenture) any Bonds to be redeemed prior to maturity pursuant to in clause (b) of the preceding paragraph hereof; and
- (iii) to mail, as soon as practicable, in the manner prescribed by Article IV hereof, a notice to the holders of such Bonds and to each Rating Agency that the deposit required by clause (b) of the preceding paragraph above has been made with the Trustee and that said Bonds are deemed to have been paid in accordance with this Article and stating the maturity or redemption date upon which moneys are to be available for the payment of the principal amount or redemption price, if applicable, on said Bonds as specified in (i) hereof and, if a maturity date is stated, whether or not such Bonds continue to be subject to redemption.

All moneys so deposited with the Trustee as provided in this Article may at the direction of the Agency also be invested and reinvested in Federal Obligations, maturing in the amounts and times as hereinbefore set forth, and all income from all Federal Obligations in the hands of the Trustee pursuant to this Article which is not required for the payment of the Bonds and interest and premium, if any, thereon with respect to which such moneys shall have been so deposited shall be deposited in the Revenue Fund as and when realized and collected for such an application as are other moneys deposited in such Fund.

Notwithstanding any provision of any other Article of this Indenture which may be contrary to the provisions of this Article, all moneys or Federal Obligations set aside and held in trust pursuant to the provisions of this Article for the payment of Bonds (including interest and premium thereon, if any) shall be applied to and used solely for the payment of the particular Bonds (including interest and premium thereof, if any) with respect to which such moneys and Federal Obligations have been so set aside in trust.

Anything in Article IX hereof to the contrary notwithstanding, if moneys or Federal Obligations have been deposited or set aside with the Trustee pursuant to this Article for the payment of Bonds and such Bonds shall not have in fact been actually paid in full, no amendment to the provisions of this Article shall be made without the consent of the holder of each Bond affected thereby.

ARTICLE VIII

DEFAULTS AND REMEDIES

Section 8.01. Events of Default. Each of the following shall constitute an event of default under this Indenture and is herein called an "Event of Default":

- (a) Interest on any of the Bonds is not paid on any date when due or the principal of any Bonds is not paid at maturity or the redemption price of any Bond is not paid at a Redemption Date at which such Bonds have been called for redemption;
- (b) If there is a default in the performance or observance of any other of the covenants, agreements or conditions on the part of the Agency in this Indenture, in any

Supplemental Indenture or in the Bonds contained, and such default is not remedied within 60 days after notice thereof pursuant to Section 8.10 hereof; or

(c) The Agency files a petition seeking a composition of indebtedness under the federal bankruptcy laws or under any applicable law or statute of the United States of America or of the State, or if the State has limited or altered the rights of the Agency pursuant to the Act, as in force on the date of this Indenture, to fulfill the terms of any agreements made with the Holders of Bonds or in any way impaired the rights and remedies of Holders of Bonds while any Bonds are Outstanding.

Upon the occurrence of an Event of Default as set forth above and of which the Trustee has knowledge, and upon the cure, if any, of any such Event of Default, the Trustee shall provide written notice thereof to the Agency and the holders of the Bonds outstanding (and each beneficial owner who has filed a written notice with the Trustee requesting the same) within 10 days of learning of the Event of Default or the occurrence of such Event of Default.

Section 8.02. Remedies; Rights of Bondholders. Upon the occurrence of an Event of Default, the Trustee may pursue any available remedy under the Act, at law or in equity, to enforce the payment of the principal of, premium, if any, and interest on the Bonds then Outstanding, and any other creditors secured hereunder, including, without limitation, the following:

- (a) The Trustee may declare the principal amount of all Bonds Outstanding and the interest accrued thereon to be immediately due and payable, whereupon such principal amount and interest shall thereupon become immediately due and payable, if an Event of Default pursuant to Section 8.01(a) has occurred;
- (b) The books and records of the Agency relating to the Bonds shall at all times be subject to the inspection and use of the Trustee and of its agents and attorneys, but only to the extent that such inspection and use does not challenge, in the Agency's discretion, the confidentiality of such books and records as well as other related communications of the Agency; and
- (c) The Agency, whenever the Trustee shall demand, will account as if it were the trustee of an express trust for all money, securities and Funds and Accounts pledged or held under this Indenture for such period as shall be stated in such demand.

If an Event of Default shall have occurred and, if requested so to do by the holders of not less than a majority in aggregate principal amount of Bonds then Outstanding or, if such Event of Default is an Event of Default described in clause (a) of Section 8.01 hereof, by the holders of not less than a majority in the aggregate principal amount of Bonds then Outstanding of the Series with respect to which such Event of Default has occurred, and indemnified by such holders in a manner acceptable to the Trustee, the Trustee shall be obligated to exercise one or more of the rights and powers conferred by this Section, as the Trustee, being advised by counsel, shall deem most expedient in the interests of the Bondholders.

No remedy by the terms of this Indenture conferred upon or reserved to the Trustee or to the Bondholders is intended to be exclusive of any other remedy, but each and every such remedy shall be cumulative and shall be in addition to any other remedy given to the Trustee or to the Bondholders hereunder or now or hereafter existing at law or in equity or by statute.

No delay or omission to exercise any right or power accruing upon any default or Event of Default shall impair any such right or power or shall be construed to be a waiver of any such default or Event of Default or acquiescence therein; and every such right and power may be exercised from time to time as often as may be deemed expedient.

No waiver of any default or Event of Default hereunder, whether by the Trustee or by the Bondholders, shall extend to or shall affect any subsequent default or Event of Default or shall impair any rights or remedies consequent thereon.

Section 8.03. Right of Bondholders To Direct Proceedings. Anything in this Indenture to the contrary notwithstanding, the holders of a majority in aggregate principal amount of Bonds then Outstanding shall have the right, at any time, by an instrument or instruments in writing executed and delivered to the Trustee, to direct the method and place of conducting all proceedings to be taken in connection with the enforcement of the terms and conditions of this Indenture, or for the appointment of a receiver or any other proceedings hereunder, provided that such direction shall not be otherwise than in accordance with the provisions of law and of this Indenture.

Section 8.04. Appointment of Receivers. Upon the occurrence of an Event of Default, and upon the filing of a suit or other commencement of judicial proceedings to enforce the rights of the Trustee and of the Bondholders under this Indenture, the Trustee shall be entitled, as a matter of right, to the appointment of a receiver or receivers of the Trust Estate and of the revenues, issues, earnings, income, products and profits thereof, pending such proceedings, with such powers as the court making such appointment shall confer.

Section 8.05. Application of Moneys. All moneys received by the Trustee pursuant to any right given or action taken under the provisions of this Article shall, following the satisfaction of any payments due the Trustee under the provisions of Sections 11.02 and 11.07 hereof, be deposited in the Revenue Fund and all moneys in the Revenue Fund (other than moneys held for redemption of Bonds duly called for redemption) shall be applied as follows:

(a) Unless the principal amount of all the Bonds shall have become or shall have been declared due and payable, all such moneys shall be applied:

FIRST, to the payment to the persons entitled thereto of all interest then due on the Bonds, in the order of the maturity of such interest and, if the amount available shall not be sufficient to pay in full said amount, then to the payment ratably, according to the amounts due to the persons entitled thereto, without any discrimination or privilege;

SECOND, to the payment to the persons entitled thereto of the unpaid principal amount of any of the Bonds which shall have become due (other than

Bonds matured or called for redemption for the payment of which moneys are held pursuant to the provisions of this Indenture), in the order of their due dates, with interest on such Bonds from the respective dates upon which they became due at the rate borne by the Bonds and, if the amount available shall not be sufficient to pay in full Bonds due on any particular date, together with such interest, then to the payment ratably, according to the amount of principal due on such date, to the persons entitled thereto without any discrimination or privilege; and

THIRD, to be held for the payment to the persons entitled thereto as the same shall become due of the principal amount of and interest on the Bonds which may thereafter become due either at maturity or upon call for redemption prior to maturity and, if the amount available shall not be sufficient to pay in full Bonds due on any particular date, together with interest then due and owing thereon, payment shall be made ratably according to the amount of principal due on such date to the persons entitled thereto without any discrimination or privilege.

- (b) If the principal amount of all the Bonds shall have become or shall have been declared due, all such moneys shall be applied to the payment of the principal amount and interest then due and unpaid upon the Bonds, without preference or priority of principal amount over interest or of interest over principal amount, or of any installment of interest over any other installment of interest, or of any Bond over any other Bond, ratably, according to the amounts due respectively for principal amount and interest, to the persons entitled thereto without any discrimination or privilege.
- (c) If the principal amount of all the Bonds shall have been declared due and payable, and if such Supplemental Indenture shall thereafter have been rescinded and annulled under the provisions of this Article then, subject to the provisions of subsection (b) of this Section in the event that the principal amount of all the Bonds shall later become due or be declared due and payable, the moneys shall be applied in accordance with the provisions of subsection (a) of this Section.

With respect to the foregoing, amounts due under a Qualified Hedge Agreement which are equivalent to Bond interest or principal shall be treated as Bond interest or principal under the counterparty under the Qualified Hedge Agreement is in default thereunder.

Whenever moneys are to be applied pursuant to the provisions of this Section, such moneys shall be applied at such times, and from time to time, as the Trustee shall determine, having due regard to the amount of such moneys available for application and the likelihood of additional moneys becoming available for such application in the future. The deposit of such money with any Paying Agent, or otherwise setting aside such money, in trust for the proper purpose shall constitute proper application by the Trustee. The Trustee shall incur no liability to the Agency, to any Bondholder or to any other person for any delay in applying any such money, so long as the Trustee acts with reasonable diligence having due regard to the circumstances, and ultimately applies the same in accordance with such provisions of this Indenture as may be applicable at the time of application by the Trustee. Whenever the Trustee shall apply such

funds, it shall fix the date (which shall be an Interest Payment Date unless it shall deem another date more suitable) upon which such application is to be made and upon such date interest on the principal amount to be paid on such dates shall cease to accrue. The Trustee shall give such notice as it may deem appropriate of the deposit with it of any such moneys and of the fixing of any such date, and shall not be required to make payment to the holder of any Bond until such Bond shall be presented to the Trustee for appropriate endorsement or for cancellation if fully paid.

Whenever all principal amounts of and interest on all Bonds have been paid under the provisions of this Section and all fees, expenses and charges of the Trustee and any Paying Agent have been paid, any balance remaining in the Revenue Fund shall be paid to the Agency.

Section 8.06. Remedies Vested in Trustee. All rights of action (including the right to file proof of claims) under this Indenture or under any of the Bonds may be enforced by the Trustee without the possession of any of the Bonds or the production thereof in any trial or other proceeding related thereto and any such suit or proceeding instituted by the Trustee shall be brought in its name as the Trustee without the necessity of joining as plaintiffs or defendants any holder of the Bonds, and any recovery of judgment shall be for the equal and ratable benefit of the holders of the Outstanding Bonds.

Section 8.07. Rights and Remedies of Bondholders. No holder of any Bond shall have any right to institute any suit, action or proceeding at law or in equity for the enforcement of this Indenture or for the execution of any trust hereof or for the appointment of a receiver or any other remedy hereunder, unless (a) a default has occurred of which the Trustee has been notified as provided in Section 11.03 hereof, or of which by said Section 11.03 it is deemed to have notice, (b) such default shall have become an Event of Default and the owners of not less than a majority in aggregate principal amount of Bonds then Outstanding or, if such Event of Default is an Event of Default described in clause (a) of Section 8.01 hereof, by the owners of not less than a majority in aggregate principal amount of Bonds then Outstanding of the Series with respect to which such Event of Default has happened, shall have given written notice to the Trustee and shall have offered it reasonable opportunity either to proceed to exercise the powers hereinbefore granted or to institute such action, suit or proceeding in their own name or names, (c) such Bondholders have offered to the Trustee indemnity as provided in Article XI hereof and (d) the Trustee shall thereafter fail or refuse to exercise the powers hereinbefore granted, or to institute such action, suit or proceeding in its own name; and such notification, request and offer of indemnity are hereby declared in every case at the option of the Trustee to be conditions precedent to the execution of the powers and trusts of this Indenture, and to any action or cause of action for the enforcement of this Indenture, or for the appointment of a receiver or for any other remedy hereunder; it being understood and intended that no one or more holders of the Bonds shall have any right in any manner whatsoever to affect, disturb or prejudice the lien of this Indenture by his action or to enforce any right hereunder except in the manner herein provided, and that all proceedings at law or in equity shall be instituted, had and maintained in the manner herein provided and for the equal and ratable benefit of the holders of all Bonds then Outstanding, subject to the provisions of this Indenture. However, nothing contained in this Indenture shall affect or impair the right of any holder to enforce the payment of the principal of and interest on any Bond it owns at and after the maturity or upon the redemption thereof, or the

obligation of the Agency to pay the principal of and interest on any such Bond issued hereunder to the holder thereof at the time, place, from the source and in the manner in the Bonds expressed, but in any case only from the Trust Estate.

Section 8.08. Termination of Proceedings. In case the Trustee shall have proceeded to enforce any right under this Indenture by the appointment of a receiver or otherwise, and such proceedings shall have been discontinued or abandoned for any reason, or shall have been determined adversely, then and in every such case the Agency, the Trustee and the Bondholders shall be restored, subject to any final determination in such proceeding, to their former positions and rights hereunder, respectively, with regard to the property herein subject to this Indenture, and all rights, remedies and powers of the Trustee shall continue as if no such proceedings had been taken.

Section 8.09. Waivers of Events of Default. The Trustee may at its discretion waive any Event of Default hereunder and its consequences, and shall do so upon the written request of the holders of (a) more than 66-2/3% in aggregate principal amount of all the Bonds then Outstanding in respect of which default in the payment of principal amount or interest, or both, exists or (b) at least a majority in aggregate principal amount of all Bonds then Outstanding in the case of any other default; provided, however, that there shall not be waived (i) any Event of Default in the payment of the principal amount of any Outstanding Bonds at the date of maturity or sinking fund redemption date specified therein or (ii) any default in the payment when due of the interest on any such Bonds unless, prior to such waiver or rescission, all arrears of interest or all arrears of payments of principal amount when due, as the case may be, with interest on overdue principal at the rate borne by the Bonds, and all reasonable fees and expenses of the Trustee in connection with such default shall have been paid or provided for. In case of any such waiver or rescission, the Agency, the Trustee and the Bondholders shall be restored to their former positions and rights hereunder, respectively, but no such waiver or rescission shall extend to any subsequent or other default, or impair any right consequent thereon.

Section 8.10. Notice of Defaults Under Section 8.01(b); Opportunity of the Agency To Cure Such Defaults. Anything herein to the contrary notwithstanding, no default under Section 8.01(b) hereof shall constitute an Event of Default until actual notice of such default by first class mail (postage prepaid) shall be given to the Agency by the Trustee or by the holders of not less than a majority in aggregate principal amount of all Bonds Outstanding and the Agency shall have had 60 days after receipt of such notice to correct said default or cause said default to be corrected, and shall not have corrected said default or caused said default to be corrected within the applicable period; provided, however, if said default be such that it cannot be corrected within the applicable period, it shall not constitute an Event of Default if corrective action is instituted by the Agency within the applicable period and diligently pursued until the default is corrected.

ARTICLE IX

SUPPLEMENTAL INDENTURES

Section 9.01. Supplemental Indentures Effective Upon Filing. Without the consent of or notice to any of the Bondholders, for any one or more of the following purposes and at any time or from time to time, a Supplemental Indenture of the Agency supplementing this Indenture may be adopted, which Supplemental Indenture, upon filing with the Trustee of a copy thereof certified by an Authorized Officer, shall be fully effective in accordance with its terms:

- (a) to close this Indenture against, or provide limitations and restrictions in addition to the limitations and restrictions contained in this Indenture on, the delivery of Bonds or the issuance of other evidences of indebtedness:
- (b) (i) to add to the covenants or agreements of the Agency in this Indenture other covenants or agreements to be observed by the Agency which are not contrary to or inconsistent with this Indenture as theretofore in effect or (ii) to make any change (other than a change requiring the consent of the holders of all Outstanding Bonds pursuant to Section 9.03 hereof) which is not materially adverse to the security of the Bondholders;
- (c) to add to the limitations or restrictions in this Indenture other limitations or restrictions to be observed by the Agency which are not contrary to or inconsistent with this Indenture as theretofore in effect;
- (d) to surrender any right, power or privilege reserved to or conferred upon the Agency by this Indenture, but only if the surrender of such right, power or privilege is not contrary to or inconsistent with the covenants and agreements of the Agency contained in this Indenture;
- (e) to confirm, as further assurance, any pledge under, and the subjection to any lien or pledge created or to be created by, this Indenture of any revenues, Funds, Accounts or other assets;
- (f) to make any changes which, in the opinion of Counsel, are necessary to preserve the tax-exempt status of the interest on the Bonds;
- (g) to make such changes to obtain or maintain the Rating on the Bonds, provided such changes do not result in a downgrade or withdrawal of the current Rating;
- (h) to modify any of the provisions of this Indenture in any respect whatever, provided that (i) such modifications shall be, and be expressed to be, effective only after all Bonds of any Series Outstanding at the date of the adoption of such Supplemental Indenture shall cease to be Outstanding and (ii) such Supplemental Indenture shall be specifically referred to in the text of all Bonds of any Series delivered after the date of the adoption of such Supplemental Indenture and of Bonds issued in exchange therefor or in place thereof;

- (i) to cure any ambiguity, supply any omission, or cure or correct any defect or inconsistent provision in this Indenture;
- (j) to authorize Bonds of a Series and, in connection therewith, specify and determine the matters and things referred to in Section 2.02, and also any other matters and things relative to such Bonds which are not contrary to or inconsistent with this Indenture as theretofore in effect, or to amend, modify or rescind any such authorization, specification or determination at any time prior to the first delivery of such Bonds; and
- (k) to insert such provisions clarifying matters or questions arising under this Indenture as are necessary or desirable and are not contrary to or inconsistent with this Indenture as theretofore in effect.

Section 9.02. Supplemental Indentures Requiring Consent of Bondholders. Exclusive of Supplemental Indentures covered by Section 9.01 hereof and subject to the terms and provisions contained in this Section, and not otherwise, (a) the holders of not less than a majority in aggregate principal amount of the Bonds then Outstanding at the time such consent is given and (b) in case less than all of the several Series of Bonds then Outstanding are affected by the modification or amendment, the holders of not less than a majority in aggregate principal amount of the Bonds of the particular Series Outstanding affected at the time such consent is given shall have the right, from time to time, anything contained in this Indenture to the contrary notwithstanding, to consent to and approve the execution by the Agency and the Trustee of such indentures supplemental hereto as shall be deemed necessary and desirable by the Agency for the purpose of modifying, altering, amending, adding to or rescinding, in any particular, any of the terms or provisions contained in this Indenture or in any Supplemental Indentures; provided, however, that, except as set forth in Section 9.03 hereof, nothing in this Section contained shall permit, or be construed as permitting, without the consent of the holders of all Outstanding Bonds, (i) an extension of the maturity or mandatory sinking fund redemption date of the principal of or the time for payment of the interest on any Bond issued hereunder, (ii) a reduction in the principal amount of any Bond or the rate of interest (except as otherwise provided in a Supplemental Indenture), or sinking fund redemption requirements, thereon, (iii) a privilege or priority of any Bond or Bonds over any other Bond or Bonds, (iv) a reduction in the aggregate principal amount of the Bonds required for consent to such Supplemental Indenture, or (v) any modification of the trusts, powers, rights, obligations, duties, remedies, immunities and privileges of the Trustee without the written consent of the Trustee.

For the purposes of this Section, Bonds of any particular Series shall be deemed to be affected by a modification or amendment of this Indenture if the same materially or adversely affects or diminishes the rights of the holders of Bonds of such Series. The Trustee, relying upon Counsel's opinion, may determine whether or not, in accordance with the foregoing powers of amendment, Bonds of any particular Series or maturity would be affected by a modification or amendment of the Indenture, and any such determination shall be binding and conclusive on the Agency and all holders of Bonds. With respect to matters affecting the security for the Bonds, the Trustee may conclusively rely upon written evidence from each Rating Agency that a change will not adversely affect the Rating on the Outstanding Bonds.

Section 9.03. Modifications by Unanimous Consent. Notwithstanding anything contained in the foregoing provisions of this Article, the terms and provisions of this Indenture, and the rights and obligations of the Agency and the holders of the Bonds, in any particular, may be modified or amended in any respect upon the execution by the Agency and filing in accordance with the provisions of this Article of a Supplemental Indenture of the Agency making such modification or amendment and the consent to such Supplemental Indenture of the holders of all of the Bonds then Outstanding, such consent to be given and proved as provided in Section 9.04, except that no notice to Bondholders, either by mailing or publication, shall be required; provided, however, that no such modification or amendment shall change or modify any of the rights, obligations, duties, remedies, immunities and privileges of the Trustee without the written consent of the Trustee.

In addition, the Agency may enter into an agreement with any Bondholder restricting one or more rights of such Bondholder, provided that such agreement shall affect only such Bondholder (or assigns) and such agreement shall not grant such Bondholder any rights or privileges not afforded other Bondholders.

Section 9.04. Consent of Bondholder. The Agency may at any time execute and file a Supplemental Indenture from the Agency making a modification or amendment permitted by the provisions of Section 9.02 or 9.03, to take effect when and as provided in this Section. A copy of such Supplemental Indenture (or brief summary thereof or reference thereto in form approved by the Agency), together with a request to the Bondholders for their consent thereto in form satisfactory to the Trustee, shall be mailed by the Agency to the Bondholders. Such Supplemental Indenture shall not be effective unless and until, and shall take effect in accordance with its terms when, (a) there shall have been filed with the Trustee (i) the written consent of the holders of the percentage of Outstanding Bonds specified in Section 9.02 or 9.03, as the case may be and (ii) a Counsel's Opinion stating that such Supplemental Indenture has been duly and lawfully adopted by the Agency in accordance with the provisions of this Indenture, is authorized or permitted by the provisions of this Indenture, and, when effective, will be valid and binding upon the Agency and enforceable in accordance with its terms and (b) a notice shall have been given as hereinafter provided in this Section. Each such consent shall be effective only if executed by a holder of Bonds as of the date such consent is given.

In connection with this Section 9.04, any such consent shall be binding upon the holder of the Bonds giving such consent and upon any subsequent holder of such Bonds and of any Bonds issued in exchange therefor (whether or not such subsequent holder thereof has notice thereof), but, notwithstanding the provisions of Section 12.01, such consent may be revoked in writing by the filing with the Trustee, not later than the time when the written statement of the Trustee hereinafter in this Section provided for is filed. The fact that a consent has not been revoked may likewise be proved by a certificate of the Trustee to the effect that no revocation thereof is on file with the Trustee.

The Agency may establish a record date for purposes of the solicitation of consents from the holders of Bonds and shall give the Trustee notice thereof.

At any time after the holders of the required percentage of Bonds shall have filed their consents to such Supplemental Indenture, the Trustee shall make and file with the Agency a

written statement that the holders of such required percentage of Bonds have filed and given such consents and that proof of the holding of such Bonds has been examined and found sufficient by the Trustee. Such written statement shall be conclusive that such consents have been so filed and have been given. At any time thereafter notice, stating in substance that such Supplemental Indenture (which may be referred to as a Supplemental Indenture adopted by the Agency on a stated date, a copy of which is on file with the Trustee) has been consented to by the holders of the required percentage of Bonds and will be effective as provided in this Section, shall be mailed to Bondholders. The Agency shall file with the Trustee proof of the mailing thereof. A record, consisting of the papers required or permitted by this Section to be made by or filed with the Trustee, shall be proof of the matters therein stated.

Section 9.05. Authorization to Trustee. The Trustee is authorized to accept the delivery of a certified copy of any Supplemental Indenture of the Agency referred to and permitted or authorized by Section 9.01, 9.02, 9.03 or 9.04, upon satisfaction of any requirements with respect thereto, to consent to such indenture as provided in such Section and to make all further agreements and stipulations which may be therein contained, and the Trustee, in taking such actions, shall be fully protected in relying on a Counsel's Opinion that such Supplemental Indenture is authorized or permitted by the provisions of this Indenture or contains no provisions which are contrary to or inconsistent with this Indenture as theretofore in effect.

Section 9.06. Exclusion of Bonds. Bonds owned or held by or for the account of the Agency shall be excluded and shall not be deemed Outstanding for the purpose of consent or other action or any calculation of Outstanding Bonds provided for in this Article, and the Agency shall not be entitled with respect to such Bonds to give any consent or take any other action provided for in this Article. At the time of any consent or other action under this Article, the Agency shall furnish the Trustee a Certificate, upon which the Trustee may rely, describing all Bonds so to be excluded.

Section 9.07. Notation on Bonds. Bonds delivered after the effective date of any action taken as in this Article provided may, and if the Trustee so determines shall, bear a notation by endorsement or otherwise in form approved by the Agency and the Trustee as to such action. If the Agency or the Trustee shall so determine, new Bonds so modified as in the opinion of the Trustee and the Agency to conform to such action may be prepared and delivered, and upon demand of the holder of any Bond then Outstanding may be exchanged, without cost to such Bondholder, for Bonds of the same designation, maturity and interest rate then Outstanding, upon surrender of such Bonds. Every holder of any Outstanding Bond shall, however, by his purchase and retention of such Bond, be deemed to consent to be bound by every modification and amendment of this Indenture adopted in accordance with the provisions of this Article, whether or not noted or endorsed on or incorporated in such Bond.

Section 9.08. Copies of Supplemental Indentures. The Agency shall forward a copy of any Supplemental Indenture (in substantially final form) to the Rating Agency.

ARTICLE X

DEPOSITARIES OF MONEYS AND INVESTMENT OF FUNDS

Section 10.01. Depositaries. All moneys held by the Trustee under the provisions of this Indenture shall be deposited with the Trustee or one or more Fiduciaries in trust for the Trustee. All moneys deposited under the provisions of this Indenture with the Trustee or any Fiduciary shall be held in trust and applied only in accordance with the provisions of this Indenture and any related Supplemental Indenture, and each of the Funds and the Accounts, and any subaccounts, established by this Indenture shall be a trust fund for the purposes thereof. The Trustee and the Agency shall not permit the deposit of any moneys with any Fiduciary in an amount exceeding the amount insured by the FDIC, unless secured by Permitted Investments.

Section 10.02. Investment of Funds and Accounts Held by Trustee. Except as otherwise provided in this Indenture, the Agency may direct the Trustee to, and in the absence of direction the Trustee shall, invest moneys in the Funds and the Accounts held by the Trustee in Permitted Investments, the maturity or redemption date at the option of the holder of which shall not exceed the date or dates on which moneys in said Fund or Account for which the investments were made are reasonably expected to be required for the purposes provided in this Indenture and any related Supplemental Indenture. The Trustee agrees to take such actions, including, but not limited to, the giving of timely notices for payment, as are required pursuant to the terms of any Permitted Investment or any guarantee related thereto.

Obligations purchased as an investment of moneys in any Fund or Account held by the Trustee under the provisions of this Indenture shall be deemed at all times to be a part of such Fund or Account. Moneys in separate Funds and Accounts may be commingled for the purpose of investment or deposit, subject to instructions from an Authorized Officer, to the extent possible in conformity with the provisions of this Section, so long as adequate records are maintained as to the amounts held in each such Fund or Account allocable to each Series of Bonds.

In computing the amount in any Fund or Account held by the Trustee under the provisions of this Indenture, obligations purchased by the Trustee or transferred by the Agency to the Trustee as an investment of moneys therein shall be valued at the Amortized Value, plus the amount of accrued interest, except that securities covered by repurchase agreements shall be valued at market price. Where market prices for obligations held by the Trustee are not readily available, the Trustee may determine the market price for such obligations in such manner as it deems reasonable. To the extent that moneys are invested pursuant to an Investment Agreement, such Investment Agreement shall be valued at par, unless the provider of the Investment Agreement is in default of its payments thereunder in which case it shall be valued as provided in the immediately preceding sentence.

At the direction of an Authorized Officer, the Trustee shall sell outright or pursuant to a repurchase agreement at the best price reasonably obtainable, or present for redemption, any obligation purchased by it as an investment whenever it shall be necessary in order to provide moneys to meet any payment or transfer from the Fund or Account for which such investment was made. When transferring moneys from one Fund or Account to another, investments need

not be liquidated, and all or a portion of such invested moneys may be credited to a particular Fund or Account from another.

At the direction of an Authorized Officer, the Trustee may sell Permitted Investments hereunder and purchase any Permitted Investments in exchange therefor.

Investments authorized to be made by the Trustee pursuant to this Article X may be made by the Trustee through its own bond or investment departments or any affiliates or subsidiaries wholly owned by the entity which wholly owns the Trustee.

The Agency acknowledges that to the extent regulations of the Comptroller of the Currency or other applicable regulatory authority grant the Agency the right to receive brokerage confirmations of security transactions as they occur, the Agency specifically waives receipt of such confirmations to the extent permitted by law. The Trustee shall have no liability or responsibility for any loss or for failure to maximize earnings resulting from any investments made in accordance with the provisions of this Section. The Trustee shall be entitled to assume, absent receipt by the Trustee of written notice to the contrary, that any investment which at the time of purchase is Permitted Investment remains a Permitted Investment thereafter.

ARTICLE XI

THE FIDUCIARIES

Section 11.01. Trustee and Depositaries; Appointment and Acceptance.

- (a) Any entity appointed as the Trustee hereunder shall be a bank, trust company or national banking association having trust powers and having either (i) a combined capital and surplus of not less than \$75,000,000 or (ii) \$500,000,000 of assets under trust, and shall have delivered to the Trustee a copy of this Indenture, certified by an Authorized Officer. The Trustee shall be and is hereby vested with all the property, rights, powers and duties granted, pledged and assigned to it by this Indenture, in trust for the Bondholders.
- (b) The Agency, consistent with the laws of the State and the Act, may appoint Fiduciaries as depositaries of money held under the provisions of this Indenture and shall further advise such Fiduciaries as to any requirements with respect to such moneys. Each Fiduciary shall signify its acceptance of the duties and obligations imposed upon it by this Indenture by executing and delivering to the Agency and the Trustee written acceptance thereof.

Section 11.02. Paying Agents. The Agency hereby appoints the Trustee as the Paying Agent for the Bonds and may, at any time or from time to time by a Supplemental Indenture, appoint one or more other Paying Agents for such Bonds. Each Paying Agent shall be a bank, trust company or national banking association, having trust powers and having a capital and surplus aggregating at least \$15,000,000, if there be such a bank or trust company or national banking association willing and able to accept the office on reasonable and customary terms and authorized by law to perform all the duties imposed upon it by this Indenture. Each Paying

Agent, other than the Trustee, shall signify its acceptance of the duties and obligations imposed upon it by this Indenture by executing and delivering to the Agency and the Trustee a written acceptance thereof. The Trustee may be appointed and may act as a Paying Agent.

Section 11.03. Responsibilities of Fiduciaries. The recitals of fact herein and in the Bonds contained shall be taken as the statements of the Agency, and no Fiduciary assumes any responsibility for the correctness of the same. No Fiduciary makes any representations for the validity or sufficiency of this Indenture or any Bonds issued hereunder or in respect of the security afforded by this Indenture, and no Fiduciary shall incur any responsibility in respect thereof. No Fiduciary shall be under any responsibility or duty with respect to the issuance of the Bonds for value or the application of the proceeds thereof or the application of any moneys paid to the Agency or others in accordance with this Indenture, except the Trustee to the extent such proceeds are paid to the Trustee in its capacity as Trustee. No Fiduciary shall be under any responsibility or duty with respect to the application of any moneys paid to any other Fiduciary. No Fiduciary shall be under any obligation or duty to perform any act which would involve it in expense or liability, to institute or defend any action or suit in respect of this Indenture or Bonds, or to advance any of its own moneys, unless properly indemnified. No Fiduciary shall be liable in connection with the performance of its duties hereunder, except for its own negligence or willful default.

In addition, no Fiduciary shall be under any obligation to effect or maintain insurance or to renew any policies of insurance or to inquire as to the sufficiency of any policies of insurance carried by the Agency, or to report, or make or file claims or proof of loss for, any loss or damage insured against or which may occur, or to keep itself informed or advised as to the payment of any taxes or assessments, or to require any such payment to be made. No Fiduciary shall be under any obligation to see that any duties herein imposed upon the Agency or any party other than itself, or any covenants herein contained on the part of any party other than itself to be performed, shall be done or performed, and no Fiduciary shall be under any obligation for failure to see that any such duties or covenants are so done or performed. No Fiduciary shall be liable or responsible because of the failure of the Agency or of any of its employees or agents to make any collections or deposits or to perform any act herein required of the Agency.

The Trustee, prior to the occurrence of an Event of Default and after the curing of all Events of Default which may have occurred, undertakes to perform such duties and only such duties as are specifically set forth in this Indenture. In case an Event of Default has occurred (which has not been cured or waived) the Trustee shall exercise such of the rights and powers vested in it by this Indenture, and use the same degree of care and skill in their exercise, as a prudent person would exercise or use under the circumstances in the conduct of his own affairs.

The Trustee may execute any of the trusts or powers hereof and perform any of its duties by or through agents, receivers or employees but shall be answerable for the conduct of the same in accordance with the standard specified above, provided that the immunities and exemptions from liability of the Trustee hereunder shall extend to such agents, receivers and employees, and shall be entitled to advice of counsel concerning all matters of trusts hereof and the duties hereunder, and may in all cases pay such reasonable compensation to all such attorneys, agents, receivers and employees as may reasonably be employed in connection with the trusts hereof,

subject to Section 11.07 hereof. The Trustee may act upon the opinion or advice of any attorneys (who may but need not be the attorney or attorneys for the Agency) approved by the Trustee in the exercise of reasonable care. The Trustee shall not be responsible for any loss or damage resulting from any action or nonaction in good faith in reliance upon such opinion or advice.

Unless an officer of the corporate trust department of the Trustee shall have actual knowledge thereof, the Trustee shall not be required to take notice or be deemed to have notice of any default hereunder except defaults under Section 8.01(a) hereof unless the Trustee shall be specifically notified in writing of such default by the Agency or a court of law or by any owner of the Bonds. Except as otherwise specifically provided for in this Indenture, all notices or other instruments required by this Indenture to be delivered to the Trustee must, to be effective, be delivered at the corporate trust office of the Trustee, and, in the absence of such notice so delivered, the Trustee may conclusively assume there is no default except as aforesaid.

The permissive right of the Trustee to do things enumerated in this Indenture shall not, unless otherwise provided herein, be construed as a duty and it shall not be answerable for other than its negligence or willful misconduct or failure to perform obligations under this Indenture.

At any and all reasonable times, the Trustee and its duly authorized agents, attorneys, experts, engineers, accountants and representatives shall have the right to inspect any and all of the books, papers and records of the Agency pertaining to the receipts under the Bonds, and to duplicate such memoranda in regard thereto as may be desired, provided that such inspection and duplication does not challenge, in the Agency's discretion, the confidentiality of such books, papers and records as well as other related communications of the Agency.

The Trustee shall not be required to give any bond or surety in respect of the execution of the said trusts and powers or otherwise in respect of the premises.

Notwithstanding anything elsewhere in this Indenture contained, the Trustee shall have the right, but shall not be required, to demand, in respect of the authentication of any Bonds, the withdrawal of any cash, or any action whatsoever within the purview of this Indenture, any showings, certificates, opinions, appraisals or other information, or corporate action or evidence thereof, in addition to that by the terms hereof required, as a condition of such action by the Trustee deemed desirable for the purpose of establishing the right of the Agency to the authentication of any Bonds, the withdrawal of any cash, or the taking of any other action by the Trustee.

Section 11.04. Funds Held in Trust. All money held by any Fiduciary, as such, at any time pursuant to the terms of this Indenture shall be and is hereby assigned, transferred and set over unto such Fiduciary in trust for the purposes and under the terms and conditions of this Indenture.

Section 11.05. Evidence on Which Fiduciaries May Act. Each Fiduciary shall be protected in acting upon any notice, resolution, request, consent, order, certificate, opinion, bond or other paper or document reasonably believed by it to be genuine and to have been signed or presented by the proper party or parties. Each Fiduciary may consult with counsel, who may or

may not be of counsel to the Agency, and the opinion of such counsel shall be full and complete authorization and protection in respect of any action taken or suffered by it hereunder in good faith and in accordance therewith. Whenever any Fiduciary shall deem it necessary or desirable that a fact or matter be proved or established prior to taking or suffering any action hereunder, such fact or matter (unless other evidence in respect thereof be herein specifically prescribed) may be deemed to be conclusively proved and established by a Certificate stating the same, and such certificate shall be full warrant for any action taken or suffered in good faith under the provisions of this Indenture, but in its discretion the Fiduciary may, in lieu thereof, accept other evidence of such fact or matter or may require such further or additional evidence as it may deem reasonable. Except as otherwise expressly provided herein, any request, order, notice or other direction required or permitted to be furnished pursuant to any provision hereof by or on behalf of the Agency to any Fiduciary shall be sufficiently executed if executed by an Authorized Officer.

Section 11.06. Preservation and Inspection of Documents. All reports, certificates, statements and other documents received by any Fiduciary under the provisions of this Indenture shall be retained in its possession and shall be available at all reasonable times for inspection by the Agency, any other Fiduciary or any Bondholder, and their agents and their representatives, any of whom may make copies thereof, but any such reports, certificates, statements or other documents may, at the election of such Fiduciary, be destroyed or otherwise disposed of at any time six years after such date as the pledge created by this Indenture shall be discharged as provided in Article VII.

Section 11.07. Compensation and Expenses. Subject to the provisions of any contract between the Agency and each Fiduciary relating to the compensation of such Fiduciary, the Agency shall pay, from moneys available in the Trust Estate, to such Fiduciary reasonable compensation for all services performed by it hereunder and also all its reasonable expenses, charges and other disbursements and those of its attorneys, agents and employees incurred in and about the administration and execution of the trusts hereby created and the performance of its powers and duties hereunder, and, from such source only and to the extent permitted by law, shall indemnify and save each Fiduciary harmless against any liabilities which it may incur in the exercise and performance of its powers and duties hereunder and which are not due to its negligence or willful misconduct. Each Fiduciary accepting appointment hereunder agrees, as a condition to such appointment, to indemnify and save the Agency harmless against any liabilities which the Agency may incur as a result of the failure of such Fiduciary's negligence or willful misconduct.

Section 11.08. Certain Permitted Acts. Any Fiduciary may become the owner of or may deal in Bonds or transact other bank or trust business with the Agency as fully and with the same rights it would have if it were not a Fiduciary. To the extent permitted by law, any Fiduciary may act as depositary for, and permit any of its officers or executive directors to act as a member of, or in any other capacity with respect to, any committee formed to protect the rights of Bondholders or to effect or aid in any reorganization growing out of the enforcement of the Bonds or this Indenture, whether or not any such committee shall represent the holders of a majority in principal amount of the Bonds Outstanding.

Section 11.09. Resignation of Fiduciary. A Fiduciary, or any successor thereof, may at any time resign and be discharged of its duties and obligations created by this Indenture by giving not less than 60 days' written notice to the Agency and delivering notice thereof to the Bondholders, specifying the date when such resignation shall take effect. Such resignation shall take effect upon the day specified in such notice, but only if a successor has been appointed to succeed such Fiduciary, unless prior to the date specified in such notice a successor shall have been appointed by the Agency or Bondholders as herein provided, in which event such resignation shall take effect immediately on the appointment of such successor. Notwithstanding the above, the resignation of the Trustee shall not be effective unless a successor Trustee has been appointed and has accepted the duties of the Trustee.

Section 11.10. Removal. A Fiduciary, or any successor thereof, may be removed at any time by the Agency (if the Agency is not in default hereunder) or by the holders of not less than a majority in principal amount of the Bonds then Outstanding, excluding any Bonds held by or for the account of the Agency, by, in the case of removal by the Bondholders, an instrument or concurrent instruments in writing signed and duly acknowledged by such Bondholders or by their attorneys duly authorized in writing and delivered to the Agency and by, in the case of removal by the Agency, notice thereof to the Trustee. Copies of each such instrument shall be delivered by the Agency to each Fiduciary and any successor thereof. Notwithstanding the above, the removal of the Trustee shall not be effective unless a successor Trustee has been appointed and has accepted the duties of the Trustee.

Section 11.11. Appointment of Successor Fiduciary. In case at any time a Fiduciary, or any successor thereof, shall resign or shall be removed or shall become incapable of acting, or shall be adjudged a bankrupt or insolvent or if a receiver, liquidator or conservator of such Fiduciary or of its property shall be appointed or if any public office or officer shall take charge or control of such Fiduciary or of its property or affairs, a successor may be appointed by the Agency or, if the Agency fails to act, by the holders of not less than a majority in principal amount of the Bonds then Outstanding, excluding any Bonds held by or for the account of the Agency, by an instrument or concurrent instruments in writing signed by such Bondholders or their attorneys duly authorized in writing and delivered to such successor Fiduciary, notification thereof being given to the Agency, the predecessor Fiduciary and any other Fiduciaries. Pending such appointment, the Agency shall forthwith appoint a Fiduciary to fill such vacancy until a successor Fiduciary shall be appointed by Bondholders as herein authorized. The Agency shall deliver notice to the Bondholders of any such appointment within 20 days after such appointment and shall give notice of such appointment to the Rating Agency. Any successor Fiduciary appointed by the Agency shall, immediately and without further act, be superseded by a Fiduciary appointed by Bondholders. If in a proper case no appointment of a successor Fiduciary shall be made pursuant to the foregoing provisions of this Section within 45 days after the Fiduciary shall have given to the Agency written notice as provided in Section 11.09 or after notice received pursuant to Section 11.10 or after the occurrence of any other event requiring or authorizing such appointment, the Fiduciary or any other Fiduciary or any Bondholder may apply to any court of competent jurisdiction to appoint a successor. Said court may thereupon, after such notice, if any, as said court may deem proper and prescribe, appoint such successor Any Fiduciary appointed under the provisions of this Section shall have the qualifications prescribed for its predecessor in Section 11.01 or Section 11.02.

Section 11.12. Transfer of Rights and Property to Successor Fiduciary. successor Fiduciary appointed hereunder shall execute, acknowledge and deliver to its predecessor Fiduciary, and also to the Agency, an instrument accepting such appointment, and thereupon such successor Fiduciary, without any further act, deed or conveyance, shall become fully vested with all moneys, estates, properties, rights, powers, duties and obligations of such predecessor Fiduciary, with like effect as if named herein as such Fiduciary, but the Fiduciary ceasing to act shall, nevertheless, on the written request of the Agency or of the Successor Fiduciary, execute, acknowledge and deliver such instruments of conveyance and further assurance and do such other things as may reasonably be required for more fully and certainly vesting and confirming in such successor Fiduciary all the right, title and interest of the predecessor Fiduciary in and to any property held by it under this Indenture and shall pay over, assign and deliver to the successor Fiduciary any money or other property subject to the trusts and conditions herein set forth. Should any deed, conveyance or instrument in writing from the Agency be required by such successor Fiduciary for more fully and certainly vesting in and confirming to such successor Fiduciary any such moneys, estates, properties, rights, powers and duties, any and all such deeds, conveyances and instruments in writing shall, on request, and so far as may be authorized by law, be executed, acknowledged and delivered by the Agency to the extent allowed by law. Any such successor Fiduciary shall promptly notify the other Fiduciaries of its appointment as such Fiduciary.

Section 11.13. Merger or Consolidation. Any company into which any Fiduciary may be merged or converted or with which it may be consolidated or any company resulting from any merger, conversion or consolidation to which it shall be a party or any company to which such Fiduciary may sell or transfer all or substantially all of its corporate trust business, provided such company shall be a financial institution which is qualified to be a successor to such Fiduciary under Section 11.01 or Section 11.02 and shall be authorized by law to perform all the duties imposed upon it by this Indenture, shall be the successor to such Fiduciary without the execution or filing of any paper or the performance of any further act.

Unless an Event of Default, or an event which with notice or lapse of time or both would become an Event of Default, shall have occurred and be continuing, in the event of an acquisition, merger or sale of a Fiduciary or the sale or assignment by a Fiduciary of its rights and duties hereunder, the Agency in its sole discretion shall have the right to remove the Fiduciary at any time upon filing with the Fiduciary an instrument in writing declaring such removal.

Section 11.14. Appointment of Co-Trustee. It is the purpose of this Indenture that there shall be no violation of any law of any jurisdiction (including particularly the law of the State) denying or restricting the right of banking corporations or associations to transact business as Trustee in such jurisdiction. It is recognized that, in case of litigation under this Indenture, and in particular in case of the enforcement of such instrument or agreement upon default, or in case the Trustee deems that by reason of any present or future law of any jurisdiction it may not exercise any of the powers, rights or remedies herein granted to the Trustee or hold title to the properties, in trust, as herein granted, or take any other action which may be desirable or necessary in connection therewith, the Trustee may appoint an additional individual or institution as a separate or Co-Trustee, in which event each and every remedy, power, right, claim, demand,

cause of action, immunity, estate, title, interest and lien expressed or intended by this Indenture to be exercised by or vested in or conveyed to the Trustee with respect thereto shall be exercisable by and vest in such separate or Co-Trustee, but only to the extent necessary to enable such separate or Co-Trustee to exercise such powers, rights and remedies, and every covenant and obligation necessary to the exercise thereof by such separate or Co-Trustee shall run to and be enforceable by either of them. In the event of such an appointment, Trustee shall notify the Agency of the appointment of such Co-Trustee and any reasonable fees and expenses of such Co-Trustee shall be payable solely from the Trust Estate as described in Section 11.07 hereof.

Should any deed, conveyance or instrument in writing from the Agency be required by the separate or Co-Trustee so appointed by the Trustee for more fully and certainly vesting in and confirming to him or it such properties, rights, powers, trusts, duties and obligations, any and all such deeds, conveyances and instruments in writing shall, on request, be executed, acknowledged and delivered by the Agency to the extent allowed by law. In case any separate or Co-Trustee, or a successor to either, shall die, become incapable of acting, resign or be removed, all the estates, properties, rights, powers, trusts, duties and obligations of such separate or Co-Trustee, so far as permitted by law, shall vest in and be exercised by the Trustee until the appointment of a new Trustee or successor to such separate or Co-Trustee.

ARTICLE XII

MISCELLANEOUS

Section 12.01. Consents, etc., of Bondholders. Any consent, request, direction, approval, objection or other instrument required by this Indenture to be signed and executed by the Bondholders (other than an assignment of a Bond) may be in any number of concurrent writings of similar tenor and may be signed or executed by such Bondholders in person or by agent appointed in writing. Proof of the execution of any such consent, request, direction, approval, objection or other instrument or of the writing appointing any such agent and of the ownership of Bonds, if made in the following manner, shall be sufficient for any of the purposes of this Indenture, and shall be conclusive in favor of the Trustee and any Paying Agent with regard to any action taken by it under such request or other instrument, namely:

- (a) The fact and date of the execution by any person of any such writing may be proved by the certificate of any officer in any jurisdiction who by law has power to take acknowledgments within such jurisdiction that the person signing such writing acknowledged before him the execution thereof, or by an affidavit of any witness to such execution.
- (b) The fact of ownership of Bonds and the amount or amounts, numbers and other identification of Bonds, and the date of holding the same shall be proved by the registration books of the Agency maintained by the Trustee pursuant to this Indenture.

Section 12.02. Limitation of Rights. With the exception of rights herein expressly conferred, nothing expressed or mentioned in or to be implied from this Indenture, any Supplemental Indenture or the Bonds is intended or shall be construed to give to any person other than the Agency, the Fiduciaries and the holders of the Bonds, any legal or equitable right,

remedy or claim under or in respect to this Indenture or any Supplemental Indenture or any covenants, conditions and provisions herein contained; this Indenture, all Supplemental Indentures and all of the covenants, conditions and provisions hereof being intended to be and being for the sole and exclusive benefit of the Agency, the Fiduciaries and the holders of the Bonds as herein provided.

Section 12.03. Severability. If any provision of this Indenture or any Supplemental Indenture shall be held or deemed to be or shall, in fact, be illegal, inoperative or unenforceable, the same shall not affect any other provision or provisions herein or therein contained or render the same invalid, inoperative or unenforceable to any extent whatever.

Section 12.04. Payments Due on Saturdays, Sundays and Holidays. In any case where the date of maturity of interest on or principal of, or the date fixed for redemption of, any Bond shall not be a Business Day, then payment of interest or principal may be made on the succeeding Business Day with the same force and effect as if made on the date of maturity or the date fixed for redemption.

Section 12.05. Applicable Provisions of Law. This Indenture and each Supplemental Indenture shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State without regard to principles of conflicts of laws. If any terms set forth in this Indenture are inconsistent with the laws of the State, the laws of the State shall govern. In the event any action, claim or other legal proceeding arising out of this Indenture is filed, such proceeding shall be brought in the Superior Court of Chittenden County, Vermont, or, if a federal forum is required, in the Federal Courts of Vermont; provided, however, the Agency does not waive any immunities related to jurisdiction of the federal courts that may be available to it.

Section 12.06. No Recourse on Bonds. No recourse shall be had for the payment of the principal of, premium, if any, or the interest on the Bonds or for any claim based thereon or on this Indenture or any Supplemental Indenture against any officer, employee or agent of the Agency or any person executing the Bonds.

Section 12.07. Maximum Interest Rate. In no event shall the interest rate for the Bonds exceed the maximum rate permitted by applicable law.

Section 12.08. Notices. Any notice, request, complaint, demand, communication or other paper shall be sufficiently given and shall be deemed given when delivered or mailed by registered or certified mail, postage prepaid, or sent by telegram, addressed to the appropriate Notice Address. The Agency and the Trustee may, by notice given hereunder, designate any further or different addresses to which subsequent notices, certificates or other communications shall be sent.

Section 12.09. Counterparts. This Indenture may be simultaneously executed in several counterparts, each of which shall be an original and all of which shall constitute but one and the same instrument.

[SIGNATURE PAGE TO TRUST INDENTURE]

Executed as of this 1st day of	, 2007.	, 2007.		
	VERMONT HOU	VERMONT HOUSING FINANCE AGENCY		
	By			
	[], as Trustee		
	By			
	Its			

Exhibit B

Required Fields for Upload to VHFA's Current Accounting System

Field	Field Type	Field Length	Notes
Date	Numeric	8	yyyymmdd format
Description	String	50	
Income Amount	String	20	
Principal Amount	String	20	
Program	Numeric	4	
Issue	Numeric	4	
Fund	Numeric	4	
Debit – Cash Account	Numeric	4	
Credit - Offset Account	Numeric	4	
Cusip	String	9	
TXC	Numeric	3	
Cusip Description	String	50	